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Background of Citibank 

CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 
MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Citibank N.A. is a corporate Bank in Kenya, and is part of the global Citigroup (Citi) franchise. 
Citibank Kenya is the Head Office of Citi East Africa cluster which covers branches in Kenya, 
Uganda, Tanzania and Zambia. Citi's core business is corporate and investment banking and 
currently offers the following services amongst others; investment banking, advisory services, foreign 
exchange, public sector financing, trade financing, cash management and internet banking. Citi offers 
these banking services to governments and parastatals, global multinationals and top-tier corporates 
across a number of industries including aviation, shipping, power, energy, manufacturing and 
infrastructure. 

Citi first entered the Kenyan market under the name "The First National City Bank of New York" and 
has been operating for 44 years, since 1974. Citi Kenya maintains two branches; one in Nairobi and 
one in Mombasa, and directly employs 127 (31 December 2017-132) staff. In addition to the two 
branches, Citi offers services to all its corporate and institutional clients through several partnerships 
across the country, providing various branch access points through partnerships with local financial 
institutions. 

Business environment 

Real GDP grew by 5.9% in 2018 (4.9% 2017) due to good weather, better political environment, 
improved business confidence and private consumption. Overall inflation increased to 5.7% in 
December 2018 (4.5% December 2017) due to fuel inflation increase to 13.8% (5.4% December 
2017). 

Estimated fiscal deficit of 2018/19 is 5.8% of GDP down from the 7.2% of GDP for the full year 
2017/2018. The fiscal deficit reduction initiatives are supported by revenue mobilization from the tax 
authority and expenditure rationalization. These measures are also to support debt sustainability. 

Current account deficit narrowed to an estimated 5.8% of GDP in 2018 (6.7% in 2017) due to 
improved trade balance from increase in manufacturing exports. The narrower current account deficit 
was also due to strong remittance inflows and healthy foreign exchange reserves. 

The monetary policy remained prudent, the Central Bank Rate was reduced by 50 basis points in 
March (9.5%) and July (9%) remaining constant to end of year 2018. 

The foreign exchange market remained relatively stable with exchange rates being competitive while 
interest rates remained low. 

Financial performance 

Citi' s performance in 2018 had a pre-tax profit of KShs 5.6 billion (2017- KShs 6.4 billion) and net 
interest income of KShs 5.3 billion (2017- KShs 5.4 billion), and non-interest income of KShs 3.9 
billion (2017- KShs 4.1 billion). Net interest income was largely attributed to exposures to the 
Government and corporate borrowers, respectively KShs 3.5 billion (2017- KShs 3.8 billion) and 
KShs 2.8 billion (2017- KShs 2.4 billion) respectively. Non interest income was mainly from foreign 
exchange trade income at KShs 1.9 billion (2017- KShs 1.9 billion) and fees and commissions at 
KShs 1.0 billion (2017- KShs 1.2 billion). The profit after tax in 2018 was at KShs 3.2 billion 
compared to 2017 at KShs 3.9 billion. The operating expenses for the bank were at KShs 3.4 billion 
in 2018 compared to KShs 3.1 billion in 2017. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

MANAGEMENT REPORT {CONTINUED) 

Financial performance (Continued) 

Total assets decreased from KShs 98.2 billion in 2017 to KShs 85.7 billion in 2018. The Capital 
adequacy ratios remained strong, well above the regulatory minimum requirements. In 2018, the bank 
maintained a low level of non-performing loans, with the gross non-performing loans and advances at 
0.8 billion in December 2018 compared to KShs 1.7 billion in December 2017. 

Prospects for 2019 

In 2019, Citibank intends to focus on current ongoing and new projects which are in line with the 
growing Kenyan economy while also focusing on innovation and risk reduction. The outlook is 
positive. Product priorities in 2019 will be: commercialization of Automated Banking Machine 
product, branch automation for cash and cheque deposits, continued growth of payments processing 
market share (for PesaLink and Mass Payments), Supply Chain Financing, sales finance and 
commodity trade financing. We shall also be expanding the reach of our knowledge platforms and 
data tools to clients, such as Knowledge Exchange Centre (KxC), Citi Velocity, Cyber Toolkit and 
Citi Treasury Diagnostics. Additionally, we shall be expanding the usage of products that improve 
client efficiency such as Citi Interest Optimization (CIO), Payer ID, Smart Match, Citi Payment 
Insights (CPI) and Citi Payment Outlier Detection (CPOD). 

The Country Coordinating Committee (CCC) is Citibank Kenya's Board equivalent and is the 
primary governance committee of the Bank. The Committee meets once a month to discuss specific 
matters and during the year ended 31 December 2018, the CCC met every month as scheduled. 
Evaluations of the members of the Country Coordinating Committee have been completed and 
submitted to the Central Bank of Kenya (CBK). 

Name Position % of meetings attended 
J. Wainaina Chair, Citi Country Officer 91.7% 
P. Njiiri Senior Country Operations Officer 91.7% 
J. Kem Chief Financial Officer 83.3% 
N. Kamere Human Resources Head 100% 
L. Muturi Credit Risk Head 100% 
Y. Muturi Compliance Officer 75% 
N. Njoroge General Counsel 100% 
I. Chicha Treasurer 83.3% 
E. Chibesa Treasury and Trade Solutions Head 83.3% 
M. Mutiga Corporate and Investment Bank Head 83.3% 
M.Mwaura Public Affairs Officer 100% 

Relevant audit information 

Management in office at the date of this report confirm that: 

(i) There is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and 

(ii) Management has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a management so as to be 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor is aware of 
that information. 
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KPMG Kenya Telephone +254 20 2806000 
Email info@kpmg.co.ke Certified Public Accountants 

8th Floor, ABC Towers 
Waiyaki Way 

Website www.kpmg.com/eastafrica 

PO Box 40612 00100 GPO 
Nairobi, Kenya 

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO MANAGEMENT OF 
CITIBANK N.A. 

(KENYA BRANCHES) 

Report on the audit of financial statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Citibank N.A. (Kenya Branches) set out on pages 8 to 99 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at at 31 December 2018, and the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of Citibank N.A. (Kenya Branches) at 31 December 2018, and the Company's financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accou,ntants' Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of financial statements in Kenya, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Other information 

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Report and Financial Statements but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditors' report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, then we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

KPMG Kenya is registered partnership and a member of the Partners 
KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with (British") 
KPMG International Cooperative ("KPMG International"), a 
Swiss entity. 

EEAhoh 
BC D'Souza 
JM Gathecha 
JI Kanuki 
Pl Kinuth,a 
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO MANAGEMENT OF 

CITIBANK N .A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

(CONTINUED) 

Report on the audit of financial statements (Continued) 

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements 

As stated on page 2, the management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
and Kenyan Companies Act, 2015, and for such internal controls as the management determines 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the management is responsible for assessing the Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the management either intends to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. 
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 
Conclude on the appropriateness of management use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditors ' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO MANAGEMENT OF 

CITIBANK N .A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

(CONTINUED) 

Report on the audit of financial statements (Continued) 

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued) 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

As required by the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015 we report to you, based on our audit, that: 

(a) in our opinion that the information given in the report of the directors on pages 3 to 4 is 
consistent with the financial statements; 

(b) We have issued an unqualified opinion on the financial statements 

The signing partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report is CPA 
Joseph Kariuki - P/2102. 

~~a 
Certified Public Accountants 
Waiyaki Way 
P.O Box 40612 - 00100 
Nairobi 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

Interest income 

Interest expense 

Net interest income 

Net impairment losses on loans 

and advances (net ofrecoveries) 

Net interest income after impairment 

losses on loans and advances 

Non interest income 
Non interest expenses 

Profit before taxation 

Income tax expense 

Profit after taxation 

Other comprehensive income 

Change in FVOCI investments 

Deferred tax on change in FVOCI 
investments 

Total other comprehensive income for 
the year 

Total comprehensive income 

Note 

7 

8 

18(c) 

9 
10 

11 

12 

2018 2017 
KShs '000 KShs '000 

6,392,890 6,451,312 

(1,091,593) (1,032,721) 

5,301,297 5,418,591 

( 172,073) ( 34 546) 

5,129,224 5,384,045 

3,872,527 4,098,004 
(3,358,725) (3,109,032) 

5,643,026 6,373,017 

(2,481,254) (2,462,604) 

3,161,772 3,910,415 

272,948 87,589 

( 102,355) ( 32,846) 

170,593 54,743 

3,332,365 3,265,158 

The notes set out on pages 13 to 99 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 

2018 2017 
Note KShs '000 KShs '000 

ASSETS 
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 13 7,365,179 8,206,639 
FVOCI Securities 14 32,488,123 35,298,964 
Derivative instruments 15 49,815 91,543 
Placements with other banks 16 4 1,500,740 
Balances due from foreign branches 17 16,164,847 12,586,332 
Loans and advances to customers (net) 18(a) 26,883,651 37,625,944 
Other assets 19 1,554,882 1,877,351 
Property and equipment 20 527,900 555,040 
Prepaid operating lease rentals 21 37,991 36,099 
Tax recoverable 12 278,366 159,519 
Deferred tax asset 22 287,927 293,741 

TOTAL ASSETS 8516381685 2812311212 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

LIABILITIES 
Balance due to other banks and banking 23 
institutions 9,248,160 10,515,676 
Derivative instruments 15 27,691 71,283 
Customer deposits 24 54,789,002 64,368,910 
Other liabilities 25 2,164,248 3,098,732 

TOT AL LIABILITIES 6622292101 7820542601 

EQUITY (Page 11) 
Assigned capital 26(a) 4,582,975 4,582,975 
Retained earnings 14,382,767 14,747,302 
Fair value reserve 26(b) 234,810 27,951 
Statutory credit risk reserve 26(c) 138,904 726,020 
Equity compensation reserve 26(d) 70,128 93,063 

TOT AL EQUITY 1924092584 2021772311 

TOT AL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 8516381685 2812311212 

The financial statements set out on pages 8 to 99 were approved and authorized for issue by Branch 
Management on 

John Kem 
Chief Financial Officer 

The notes set out on pages 13 to 99 form an integral part of these financial statements 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

2018 

Note KShs '000 

Net cash flows from operating activities 27(a) 6,919,329 

Cashflows from investing activities 

Purchase of property and equipment 20 ( 48,133) 

Additions on land leasehold 20 ( 3,734) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 2 869 

Net cash utilised in investing activities ( 48,998) 

Cashflows from financing activities 

Repatriation of profits (3,900,290) 

Net cash utilised in financing activities (3,900,290) 

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 27(b) 2,2:Z!l,04] 

The notes set out on pages 13 to 99 form an integral part of these financial statements 

2017 

KShs '000 

(10,273,007) 

( 42,422) 

2 123 

( 40,299) 

( 3,369,016) 

( 3,369,016) 

(13,682,322) 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

Statutory Equity 
Assigned Retained Fair value credit risk compensation 

capital earnings reserve reserve reserve Total 
2018 KShs'OOO KShs'OOO KShs'OOO KShs'OOO KShs'OOO KShs'OOO 

As at January 2018 4,582,975 14,747,302 27,951 726,020 93,063 20,177,311 
IFRS 9 Initial application 
adjustments (Note 3 (~}} ( 213,133) 36,266 ( 176,867) 
Restated Balance as at 1 
January 2018 4,582,975 14,534,169 64,217 726,020 93,063 20,000,444 

Total comprehensive 
income 
Net profit for the year 3,161,772 3,161,772 
Other comprehensive 
income 
Change in FVOCI 
investments 272,948 272,948 
Deferred tax on change in 
FVOCI investments (102,355) ( 102,355) 
Transfer from statutory 
credit risk reserve 587,116 (587,116) 

Total other comprehensive 
income 587,116 170,593 (587,116) 170,593 
Total comprehensive 
income 3,748,888 170,593 (587,116) 3,332,365 
Transactions with owners, 
Recorded directly in 
equity 

Increase in equity awards (22,935) ( 22,935) 
Repatriation of profits (3,900,290) (3,900,290) 
Transactions with owners 
for the year recorded 
directly in equity (3,900,290) (22,935) (3,923,225) 

At 31 December 2018 4,582,975 14,382,767 234,810 138,904 70,128 19,409,584 

The notes set out on pages 13 to 99 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

Statutory Equity 
Assigned Retained Fair value credit risk compensation 

capital earnings reserve reserve reserve Total 
2017 KShs'OOO KShs'OOO KShs'OOO KShs'OOO KShs'OOO KShs'OOO 

As at January 20 I 7 4,582,975 14,216,028 (26,792) 715,895 140,502 19,628,608 
Total comprehensive 
income 
Net profit for the year 3,910,415 3,910,415 
Other comprehensive 
income 
Change in fair value of 
available for sale 
investments 87,589 87,589 
Deferred tax on change 
in fair value of 
available for sale 
investments (32,846) (32,846) 
Transfer from statutory 
credit risk reserve ( 10,125) 10,125 
Total other 
comprehensive 
income { 10,125) 54,743 10,125 54,743 
Total comprehensive 
income 3,900,290 54,743 10,125 3,965,158 
Transactions with 
owners, Recorded 
directly in equity 
Increase in equity 
awards (47,439) ( 47,439) 

Repatriation of profits - (3,369,016) (3,369,016) 
Transactions with 
owners for the year 
Recorded directly in 
equity - {3,369,016) {47,439) {3,416,455) 

At 31 December 2017 4,582,975 14,747,302 27,951 726,020 93,063 20,177,311 

The notes set out on pages 13 to 99 form an integral part of these financial statements 
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CITIBANK N.A. 

(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

1. REPORTING ENTITY 

The Bank is a branch of Citibank N.A, a national banking association formed under the laws 
of the United States of America. The Bank is licensed under the Banking Act (chapter 488). 
The address of its registered office is as follows: 

Citibank House 
Upper Hill Road 
P.O. Box 30711 
00100 Nairobi GPO 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) and the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015. 

For Kenyan Companies Act, 2015 reporting purposes, the balance sheet is represented 
by the statement of financial position and the profit and loss account is presented by 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in these financial 
statements. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements set out on pages 8 to 99 have been prepared under the 
historical cost basis of accounting except for the following: 

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair 
value 
FVOCI financial assets are measured at fair value. 
Share based payments are measured at fair value. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in Kenya shillings (KShs), which is the 
bank's functional currency. Except as indicated, financial information presented in 
Kenya shillings has been rounded to the nearest thousand. 

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates i.e. Kenya shillings. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies 
and reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reported period. The estimates and assumptions are based on 
managements' best knowledge of current events, actions, historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis of making the judgments about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 

( d) Use of estimates and judgments ( continued) 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation and critical judgments in 
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount 
recognised in the financial statements is described in Note 5. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements as 
set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the financial 
statements. 

(a) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is derived substantially from banking business and related act1V1!ies and 
comprises net interest income and non-interest income. Income is recognised on an 
accrual basis in the period in which it accrues. 

(i) Interest income and expense 

Interest income and expenses are recognised in the profit or loss for all interest
bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. 

Policy applicable after 1 January 2018 
Income from loans and advances to customers, placements with other banks and 
Investments in government securities is recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest rate method. The 'effective interest rate' is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument to: 

- The gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 
- The amortised cost of the financial liability 

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than 
purchased or originated credit-impaired assets, the Bank estimates future cash 
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not the 
expected credit loss (ECL). For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future 
cash flows including ECL. 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees 
and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 
Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(a) Revenue recognition (continued) 

(i) Interest inco111e and expense (continued) 

Policy applicable after 1 January 2018 

Amortised cost and gross carrying amount 

The 'amortised cost' of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial 
asset is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or 
minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest rate method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial 
assets, adjusted for any ECL (or impairment allowance before 1 January 2018). 

The 'gross carrying amount of a financial asset' is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance. 

Calculation of interest income 

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated 
on initial recognition of a financial asset or financial liability. In calculating 
interest income, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount 
of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or the amortised cost of the 
liability. The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation 
of cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect movements in market rates of 
interest. 

For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, purchased 
originated credit impaired (POCI) assets, interest income is calculated by 
applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the 
asset. The calculation of interest income does not revert to a gross basis, even if 
the credit risk of the asset improves. 

For financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to 
the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, 
then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis. 

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 

Interest inco111e and expense 

Interest income and expense were recognised in profit or loss using the effective 
interest method. The effective interest rate was the rate that exactly discounted 
the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset or financial liability ( or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to 
the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating 
the effective interest rate, the bank estimated future cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. 

The calculation of the effective interest rate included transaction costs and fees 
and points paid or received that were an integral part of the effective interest rate. 
Transaction costs included incremental costs that were directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(a) Revenue recognition (continued) 

(i) Interest income and expense - continued 

Presentation 

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the 
statement of profit or loss and OCI includes: 

interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised 
cost; 
interest on debt instruments measured at FVOCI; 

Interest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI includes: 

- financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and 

(ii} Fees and commission income 

Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest 
rate on a financial asset or financial liability are included in the effective interest 
rate. 

Other fee and commission income - including account servicing fees, investment 
management fees, sales commission, placement fees and syndication fees - is 
recognised as the related services are performed. If a loan commitment is not 
expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, then the related loan commitment 
fee is recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment period 

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the 
Bank's financial statements may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially 
in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Bank first applies IFRS 9 to 
separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and 
then applies IFRS 15 to the residual. 

Other fee and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and service fees, 
which are expensed as the services are received. 

(iii) Rental income 

Rental income in respect of operating leases is accounted for on a straight-line 
basis over the lease terms on ongoing leases. 

(iv) Net trading income 

Net trading income comprises gains less losses related to trading assets and 
liabilities and includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes, interest and 
foreign exchange differences. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(a) Revenue recognition (continued) 

(v) Net income from other financial instruments at fair value 

Net income from other financial instruments at fair value relates to derivatives 
held for risk management purposes and includes all realised and unrealised fair 
value changes and foreign exchange differences. 

(b) Financial instruments 

Policy applicable after 1 January 2018 

(i) Classification and Measurement 

Financial Assets - Derivatives and Equity Instruments 

Under IFRS 9, derivatives and in-scope equity instruments are measured at fair 
value, with changes reflected through the profit and loss account (FVTPL). 
Exceptions can only apply if the derivative is part of a hedge accounting 
programme. 

The Bank measures all equity instruments in scope of IFRS 9 at FVTPL. 

Financial Assets - Debt Instruments 

Under IFRS 9, the following primary classification and measurement 
categories exist for financial assets-debt instruments: 

Amortized cost; 
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and 
Fair value though profit or loss (FVTPL) 

In addition, IFRS 9 provides special designation options for financial assets
debt instruments that are either measured at 'amortized cost' or 'FVOCI'. An 
entity has an option to designate such instruments at FVTPL only where this 
designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. 

The following paragraphs explain the classification criteria for the 3 categories 
in more detail. 

Amortised cost 

A financial asset-debt instrument shall be classified and subsequently measured 
at amortized cost (unless designated under FVO) only if both of the following 
conditions are met: 

(i) Business Model test: the financial asset--debt instrument is held in a 
business which has a business model whose objective is to hold assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows; and 

(ii) SPPI test: the contractual terms of the financial asset-debt instrument give 
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI). 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments ( continued) 

Policy applicable after I January 2018 (continued) 

(i) Classification and Measurement - continued 

Financial Assets - Debt Instruments - continued 

FVOCI 

A financial asset shall be classified and measured at FVOCI (unless designated 
FVO) if both of the following conditions are met: 

(i) Business Model test: the financial asset is held in a business model whose 
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets: and 

(ii) SPPI test: the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding (SPPI). 

FVTPL 

Any financial instrument that does not fall into either of the above categories 
shall be classified and measured at fair value through profit and loss. For 
example, where the asset is not held within a business model whose objective 
is to hold to collect the contractual cash flows or within a business model 
whose objective is to both collect the cash flows and to sell the assets, then the 
asset will be classified as FVTPL. 

Moreover, any instrument for which the contractual cash flow characteristics 
do not comprise solely payments of principal and interest (that is, they fail the 
SPPI test) must be classified in the FVTPL category. 

Business Model Assessment 

The Bank's business model is determined at a level that reflects how groups of 
financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business 
objective. 
The Bank's business model does not depend on management's intentions for 
an individual instrument (i.e., it is not an instrument-by-instrument 
assessment). This assessment is performed at a higher level of aggregation. 
The level of aggregation is at a level which is reviewed by key management 
personnel, enabling them to make strategic decisions for the business. The 
Bank has more than one business model for managing its financial instruments. 
The assessment of the business model requires judgment based on facts and 
circumstances, considering quantitative factors and qualitative factors. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments ( continued) 

Policy applicable after I Janua,y 2018 (continued) 

(i) Classification and Measurement - continued 

Financial Assets - Debt Instruments - continued 

Business Model Assessment - continued 

The Bank considers all relevant evidence that is available at the date of the 
assessment. Such relevant evidence includes, but is not limited to: 

(i) How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held 
within that business model are evaluated and reported to the 
Group's/Company's key management personnel; 

(ii) The risks that affect the performance of the business model ( and the 
financial assets held within that business model) and, in particular, the way 
in which those risks are managed; and 

(iii)How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the 
compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or on the 
contractual cash flows collected); and 

(iv) The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for 
such sales and expectations about future sales activity. 

Assessment of whether the contractual cash flows re solely payments of 
principal and interest. 

If an instrument is held in either a hold to collect or a or hold to collect and sell 
business model, then an assessment to determine whether contractual cash 
flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding 
(SPPI) is required to determine classification. For SPPI, interest is defined as 
consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with 
the principal amount outstanding during a period of time. It can also include 
consideration for other basic lending risks (for example, liquidity risk) and 
costs (for example, administrative costs) associated with holding the financial 
asset for a particular period of time and a profit margin that is consistent with a 
basic lending arrangement. Other contractual features that result in cash flows 
that are not payments of principal and interest result in the instrument being 
measured at FVTPL. 

Contractual terms that introduce exposure to risks or volatility in the 
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement, such 
as exposure to changes in equity prices or commodity prices, do not give rise to 
contractual cash flows that meet the SPPI criteria. 

The contractual cash flow test must be performed at initial recognition of the 
financial asset and, if applicable, as at the date of any subsequent changes to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Page 19 



r • 

CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments ( continued) 

Policy applicable after 1 Janua,y 2018 (continued) 

(i) Classification and Measurement - continued 

Financial liabilities 

For financial liabilities there are two measurement categories: amortized cost 
and fair value through profit and loss (including a fair value option category). 
The Bank separates derivatives embedded in financial liabilities where they are 
not closely related to the host contract. 

The Bank designates financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss if 
one of the following exist: 

- The liability is managed and performance evaluated on a fair value basis; 
- Electing fair value will eliminate or reduce an accounting mismatch; or 
- The contract contains one or more embedded derivatives 

For financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, fair value 
changes are presented as follows: 

- The amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is 
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability must be recorded in 
OCI, and 

- The remaining amount of the change in the fair value of the liability is 
recorded in P &L. 

Upon early extinguishment ( e.g., liability is repurchased before maturity), 
changes in own credit previously recorded in OCI will not be recycled to P&L. 
The OCI balance is reclassified directly to retained earnings. 

Reclassifications 

Financial asset classification is determined at initial recognition and 
reclassifications are expected to be extremely rare. A financial asset can only 
be reclassified if the business model for managing the financial asset changes. 
Reclassification of financial liabilities is not permitted. Reclassification of 
financial instruments designated under FVO or FVOCl is also not permitted. 

Modifications 

Financial assets 
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Bank evaluates whether the 
cash flows of the modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows 
are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the 
original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original 
financial asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair 
value. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(bl Financial instruments (continued) 

Policy applicable after 1 January 2018 (continued) 

(i) Classification and Measurement - continued 

Financial assets - continued 

When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or 
otherwise modified and the renegotiation or modification does not result in the 
derecognition of that financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9, the Bank shall 
recalculate the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and shall recognize 
a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. 

As the Bank classifies a financial asset at initial recognition on the basis of the 
contractual terms over the life of the instrument, reclassification on the basis of 
a financial asset's contractual cash flows is not permitted, unless the asset is 
sufficiently modified that it is derecognized. 

Financial liabilities 

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the 
cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a 
new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised 
in profit or loss. 

Impairment 

The IFRS 9 impairment standard applies to any debt instruments measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income and also to 
off balance sheet loan commitments and financial guarantees. 

Expected credit loss impairment model 

Credit loss allowances wit! be measured on each reporting date according to a 
three-Stage expected credit loss impairment model under which each financial 
asset is classified in one of the stages below: 

Stage 1 - From initial recognition of a financial asset to the date on which 
the asset has experienced a significant increase in credit risk relative to its 
initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognized equal to the credit losses 
expected to result from defaults expected over the next 12 months. Interest 
is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the asset. 
Stage 2 - Following a significant increase in credit risk relative to the risk 
at initial recognition of the financial asset, a loss allowance is recognized 
equal to the full credit losses expected over the remaining life of the asset. 
Interest is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the asset. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments ( continued) 

Policy applicable after 1 Janua,y 2018 (continued) 

(v) Classification and Measurement - continued 

Expected credit loss impairment model - continued 

The credit losses for financial assets in Stage 1 and Stage 2 are measured as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows 
due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the 
Group expects to receive). 

Stage 3 - When a financial asset is considered to be credit-impaired, a loss 
allowance equal to the full lifetime expected credit losses will be recognized. 
Credit losses are measured as the difference between the gross carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows. Interest revenue is 
calculated based on the carrying amount of the asset, net of the loss allowance, 
rather than on its gross carrying amount. 

Evidence that a financial asset is impaired includes observable data that comes 
to the attention of the Company such as: 

- Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obliger; 
- A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or 

principal payments; 
- It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other 

financial reorganisation; 
- The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of 

financial difficulties; or 
- Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the 

estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the 
initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be 
identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, including: 

adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; 
and 
national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on 
the assets in the portfolio. 

Loans are written off when there is no realistic probability of recovery. 
The estimation of an expected credit loss (ECL) is required to be unbiased and 
probability weighted, including information about past events, current 
conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and 
economic conditions at the reporting date. The estimate also considers the 
time value of money. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments ( continued) 

Policy applicable after 1 Janua1y 2018 (continued) 

(v) Classification and Measurement - continued 

Expected credit loss impairment model - continued 

The measurement of an ECL is primarily determined by an assessment of the 
financial asset's probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and 
exposure at default (EAD) where the cash shortfalls are discounted to the 
reporting date. For a financial asset in Stage 1, the Bank will utilise a 12-
month PD, whereas a financial asset within Stage 2 and Stage 3 will utilise a 
lifetime PD in order to estimate an impairment allowance. 

Wholesale Classifiably Managed Exposures 

An impairment allowance will be estimated for Corporate loans utilising 
sophisticated models depending on the relative size, quality and complexity of 
the portfolios 

Staging 

Financial assets can move in both directions through the Stages of the IFRS 9 
impairment model depending on whether the assessment of whether there is a 
significant increase of credit risk since initial recognition or whether the asset is 
credit impaired subsequently changes. 

In order to determine the ECL reporting stage for an obligation, the Bank will 
check whether the asset is already impaired (Stage 3) or not (Stage 1 and 2). 

Stage 2 will be determined by the existence of a significant credit deterioration 
( or credit improvement) compared with the credit rating at initial recognition. 
Stage 1 assets do not have significant credit deterioration compared with that at 
initial recognition. All newly acquired or originated financial assets that are 
not purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) are recognised in Stage 1 
initially. The existence of a (statistically) significant deterioration/ 
improvement is combined with the materiality of the probability of default to 
determine whether a transfer in stages is required. Further, the Bank will not 
rebut the presumption that exposures 30 days past due are deemed to have 
incurred a significant increase in credit risk. Additional qualitative reviews are 
also be performed to assess the staging results and make adjustments, as 
necessary, to better reflect the positions which have significantly increased in 
risk. 

Changes in the required credit loss allowance, including the impact of 
movements between Stage 1 (12-month expected credit losses) and Stage 2 
(lifetime expected credit losses), are recorded in profit or loss as an adjustment 
of the provision for credit losses. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments ( continued) 

Policy applicable after 1 January 2018 (continued) 

(i) Classification and Measurement - continued 

Expected credit loss impairment model - continued 

Expected life 

When measuring ECL, the Group/Company must consider the maximum 
contractual period over which the Bank is exposed to credit risk, including 
possible drawdowns and the expected maturity of the financial asset. For 
certain revolving credit facilities that do not have a fixed maturity, the 
expected life is estimated based on the period over which the Bank is exposed 
to credit risk and where the credit losses would not be mitigated by 
management actions. 

Stage 3 definition of default 

As mentioned above, to determine whether an instrument should move to a 
lifetime ECL, the change in the risk of a default occurring over the expected life 
of Bank applies a default definition that is consistent with that used for internal 
credit risk management purposes for the relevant financial instrument and 
consider qualitative indicators (for example, financial covenants) when 
appropriate. The definition of default used for this purpose is applied 
consistently to all financial instruments unless information becomes available 
that demonstrates another default definition is more appropriate for a particular 
financial instrument. 

Forward Looking Information and multiple economic scenarios 

Estimates must consider information about past events, current conditions and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts around future events and economic 
conditions. The application of forward looking information (FLD requires 
significant judgment. The Bank has developed models that include multiple 
economic scenarios that consider the variability and uncertainty in expected 
losses including factors such as GDP growth rates and unemployment rates, 
provided by the economists in Citi's Global Country Risk Management 
(GCRM). These estimates are based on portfolio data that reflect the current 
risk attributes of obligors and debt instruments combined with loss projections 
derived from the rating migration, PD and loss models built for estimating stress 
credit losses for wholesale portfolios. As mentioned above, these models have 
incorporated specifically developed components to make the estimates 
compliant with IFRS 9. The PD, LGD and Credit Conversion Factor (CCF) 
models are calibrated to the observed historical patterns of defaults and losses 
over several years and linked to economic drivers. The model reflects different 
loss likelihood and loss severity as a function of different economic forecasts. 
The Bank does not use the best case or worst case scenario, but assesses a 
representative number of scenarios (at least 3 when applying a sophisticated 
approach and where multiple scenarios are deemed to have a material non-linear 
impact) and probability weights these scenarios to determine the ECL. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments ( continued) 

Policy applicable after I Janua,y 2018 (continued) 

(i) Classification and Measurement - continued 

Delinquency Managed Exposures 

In particular, for Corporate portfolios, where the Bank does not have access to 
detailed historical information and/or loss experience, the Bank will adopt a 
simplified approach using backstops and other qualitative information specific 
to each portfolio. 

Other Financial Assets Simplified Approaches 

For other financial assets, being short term and simple in nature, the Bank will 
apply a simplified measurement approach that may differ from what is 
described above. This approach leverages existing models currently used 
globally for stress-testing and regulatory capital reporting purposes, but 
incorporates specifically developed components to make the estimates 
compliant with IFRS 9. 

Presentation of the allowance of ECL in the statement of financial position 
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as 
follows; 

- Financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross 
carrying amount of the asset 

- Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: as a provision 
- Debt instruments measured at FVOCI: as the carrying amount of these 

financial assets is at fair value, no loss allowance is recognised in the 
statement of financial position, however, the loss allowance is disclosed in 
note 4(a) and is recognised in the fair value reserve. 

Derecognition 

The bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual 
cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any 
interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the bank is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying 
amount of the asset ( or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset 
derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new 
asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or 
loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss. Any 
interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is 
created or retained by the bank is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments ( continued) 

Policy applicable after 1 Ja11uary 2018 (colltinued) 

(i) Classification and Measurement - continued 

Derecognition - co11tinued 

The bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its 
statement of financial position, but retains either all of the risks and rewards of 
the transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or substantially all risks and 
rewards are retained, then the transferred assets are not derecognised from the 
statement of financial position. Transfers of assets with retention of all or 
substantially all risks and rewards include, for example, securities lending and 
repurchase transactions. 

The bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled or expire. 

Fair value measurement principles 

'Fair value' is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous 
market to which the bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability 
reflects its non-performance risk. 

When available, the bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the 
quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as 
active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient 
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the bank uses valuation 
techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise 
the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all 
of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a 
transaction. 

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial 
recognition is normally the transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the 
consideration given or received. If the bank determines that the fair value at 
initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is 
evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or 
liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable 
markets, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, 
adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and 
the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or 
loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than 
when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the 
transaction is closed out. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments ( continued) 

Policy applicable after I Ja11ua1y 2018 (continued) 

(i) Classificatio11 and Measureme11t - colltinued 

Fair value measurement pri11ciples - conti11ued 

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, 
then the bank measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities 
and short positions at an ask price. 

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market 
risk and credit risk that are managed by the bank on the basis of the net 
exposure to either market or credit risk are measured on the basis of a price 
that would be received to sell a net long position ( or paid to transfer a net short 
position) for a particular risk exposure. Those portfolio-level adjustments are 
allocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk 
adjustment of each of the individual instruments in the portfolio. 

The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on 
demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount could be required 
to be paid. 

The bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of 
the end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred. 

Statutory credit risk reserve 

Where impairment losses required by regulations exceed those computed under 
IFRS, the excess is recognised as a statutory credit risk reserve and is 
accounted for as an appropriation of retained earnings. The statutory credit 
risk reserve is non-distributable. 

Offsettillg of fi11a11cial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported on the 
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set
off the recognised amount and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial instruments ( continued) 

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 

(i) Recognition 

The Bank initially recognizes loans and advances, deposits and debt securities on 
the date at which they are originated. All other financial assets and liabilities 
(including assets designated at fair value through profit and loss) are initially 
recognised on the trade date at which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual 
provision of the instrument. 

A financial asset or liability is initially measured at fair value plus (for an item 
not subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss) transaction costs r' that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial 

•" recognition, financial liabilities (deposits and debt securities) are measured at 
their amortized cost using the effective interest method except where the Bank 
designates liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. 

(ii) Classification and measurement 

The Bank classifies the financial instruments into classes that reflect the nature of 
information and take into account the characteristics of those financial 
instruments. The classification made can be seen on the table below as follows: 

Category (as defined by Class (as determined by the Bank) Subclasses 
IAS 39) 
Financial Financial Financial assets Debt Securities 
assets assets at fair held for trading Equity Securities 

value through Derivatives - non 
profit or loss hed2:irn, 

Financial assets Debt Securities 
designated at fair Equity Securities 
value through 
profit or loss 

Financial Loans and Loans and advances to banks 
assets receivables Loans and Loans to corporates Overdrafts 

advances to Credit cards 
customers Term loans 

Mortgages 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial assets and financial liabilities ( continued) 

Policy applicable before I January 2018 (continued) 

(ii) Classification and measurement - continued 

Category (as defined by Class (as determined by the Bank) 
IAS 39) 
Financial Loans and Loans to corporate 
assets receivables entities 

Investment 
securities - debt 
instruments 

Held to Investment 
maturity securities - debt 
investments securities 
Available for Investment 
sale financial securities - debt 
assets securities 

Investment 
securities -
equity securities 

Financial Deposits from banks 
liabilities Customers Corporate 

deposits customers 

Borrowings 
Off- Loan conunitments 
balance Guarantees, acceptances and 
sheet other financial facilities 
financial 
instruments 

(iii) Financial assets 

The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity 
investments; and available-for-sale financial assets. Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those 
designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. 

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management. 
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(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial assets and financial liabilities ( continued) 

Policy applicable before I Janua,y 2018 (continued) 

(iii) Financial assets - continued 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Investments held for trading are those which were either acquired for generating 
a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or dealer's margin, or are securities 
included in a portfolio in which a pattern of short-term profit-taking exists. 
Investments held for trading are subsequently re-measured at fair value based on 
quoted bid prices or dealer price quotations, without any deduction for 
transaction costs. All related realized and unrealized gains and losses are 
included in profit or loss. Interest earned whilst holding held for trading 
investments is reported as interest income. 

Foreign exchange forward and spot contracts are classified as held for trading. 
They are marked to market and are carried at their fair value. Fair values are 
obtained from discounted cash flow models which are used in the determination 
of the foreign exchange forward and spot contract rates. Gains and losses on 
foreign exchange forward and spot contracts are included in foreign exchange 
income as they arise. 

Loans, advances and receivables 

Loans and advances to customers and trade receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They arise when the Bank provides money directly to a debtor 
with no intention of trading the receivable. Loans and advances are initially 
measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently 
measured at their amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Held to maturity 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Bank's management has the 
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. A sale or reclassification of 
more than an insignificant amount of held to maturity investments would result 
in the reclassification of the entire category as available for sale. Held to maturity 
investments includes treasury bills and bonds. They are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Available for sale 

Available for sale financial investments are those non derivative financial assets 
that are designated as available for sale or are not classified as any other category 
of financial assets. Available for sale financial assets are recognised initially at 
fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and presented in the available for sale fair value 
reserve in equity. When an investment is derecognised, the gain or loss 
accumulated in equity is re-classified to profit or loss. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial assets and financial liabilities ( continued) 

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued) 

(iv) Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Bank enters into the contractual 
provisions of the arrangements with counterparties, which is generally on trade 
date, and initially measured at fair value, which is normally the consideration 
received, net or directly attributable transaction costs incurred. Subsequent 
measurements of financial liabilities is at amortised cost incurred. Subsequent 
measurements of financial liabilities is at amortised cost using effective interest 
rate method. Financial liabilities will include deposits from banks or customers, 
trade payables from the brokerage and lines of credit for which the fair value 
option is not applied. 

(v) Identification and measurement of impairment of financial assets 

At each reporting date the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence that 
financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. 
Financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss 
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event 
has an impact on the future cash flows on the asset than can be estimated 
reliably. 

The Bank considers evidence of impairment at both a specific asset and 
collective level. All individually significant financial assets are assessed for 
specific impairment. Significant assets found not to be specifically impaired are 
then collectively assessed for any impairment that may have been incurred but 
not yet identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively 
assessed for impairment by grouping together financial assets ( carried at 
amortized cost) with similar risk characteristics. 

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired 
can include default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or 
advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would otherwise not consider, 
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of 
an active market for a security, or other observable data relating to a group of 
assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in 
the Bank, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the Bank. 

In assessing collective impairment the Bank uses historical trends of the 
probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, 
adjusted for management's judgment as to whether current economic and credit 
conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than 
suggested by historical trends. Default rate, loss rates and the expected timing of 
future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure 
that they remain approp1iate. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial assets and financial liabilities ( continued) 

Policy applicable befol'e I Ja11uary 2018 (co11ti11ued) 

(v) lde11tijicatio11 a11d measul'emellt of impail'mellt of fi11a11cial assets - co11ti11ued 

Impairment losses on assets carried at amortized cost are measured as the 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial assets and the present 
value of estimated cash flows discounted at the assets' original effective interest 
rate. Losses are recognised as profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account 
against loans and advances. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be 
recognised through the unwinding of the discount. 

When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the 
impairment loss is reversed through the income statement. 

Amounts classified as available for sale 

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognised by 
reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair value reserve in equity to profit or 
loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit and loss is the 
difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and 
amortization, and the fair value, less any impairment loss recognised previously 
in profit or loss. Changes in impairment attributable to application of the 
effective interest method are reflected as a component of interest income. 

If in subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available for sale debt 
security increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, then the impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss; otherwise any increase in fair value is recognised 
through Other Comprehensive Income (OCI). Any subsequent recovery in the 
fair value of an impaired available for sale equity security is always recognised 
in OCI. 

(vi) De-l'ecog11itio11 

The Bank derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the rights to receive the 
contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained 
by the Bank is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

The Bank derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled or expire. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial assets and financial liabilities ( continued) 

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued) 

(vi) De-recognition - continued 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount 
of the asset ( or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset 
derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new 
asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) cumulative gain or loss 
that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest in 
transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or 
retained by the bank is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

The Bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its 
statement of financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or 
substantially all risks and rewards are retained, then the transferred assets are not 
derecognised from the statement of financial position. Transfers of assets with 
retention of all or substantially all risks and rewards include repurchase 
transactions. 

(vii) Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in 
the statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or 
to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under 
IFRSs, or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as 
in the Bank's trading activity. 

(viii) Restructured loans 

Restructured troubled loans and advances are loans and advances for which the 
Bank has granted a concession to the borrower due to a deterioration of the 
borrower's financial condition. The restructuring may include: 

A modification of terms, e.g., a reduction in the interest from that originally 
agreed or a reduction in the principal amount; and 
The transfer from the borrower to the bank of real estate, receivables from 
third parties, other assets, or equity interest in the borrower in full or partial 
satisfaction of the loan. 

Such restructured loans and advances whose terms have been renegotiated are no 
longer considered to be past due but are treated as new loans after the minimum 
number of payments under the new arrangement have been received. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(b) Financial assets and financial liabilities ( continued) 

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued) 

(ix) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability respectively in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

(x) Amortized cost measurement 

The amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at 
which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial recognition, minus 
principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the 
effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount recognised 
and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment. 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, the cash and cash 
equivalents include balances with the Central Bank of Kenya which are available to 
finance the bank's day to day operations, net balances from banking institutions, and 
investments with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial 
position. 

Cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid assets, subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in their fair value and are used by the bank in the management of short term 
commitments. 

( d) Derivative financial instruments 

The bank enters into financial instruments for trading purposes with third parties to 
hedge their exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from 
operational, financing and investment activities. 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at cost. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. Fair values are 
obtained from quoted market prices in active markets, including recent market 
transactions and valuation techniques. The gain or loss on re-measurement to fair 
value is recognised immediately in the profit and loss. The main derivative financial 
instruments in use by the bank are as follows: 

(i) Currency fonvards 

Foreign exchange forward contracts are agreements to buy and sell a specified 
quantity of foreign currency, usually on a specified future date at an agreed 
rate. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is the present value of the 
mark to market adjustment at the reporting date. 
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(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

( d) Derivative financial instruments ( continued) 

(ii) Currency options 

A currency option is an agreement between two counter-parties, giving the 
option buyer (option holder) the right, but not the obligation, either to buy or to 
sell a quantity of currency at a specified rate, on or before a specified date in 
the future. All currency options concluded with third parties are immediately 
offset by an opposite option transacted with another Citibank affiliate under 
exactly the same parameters ( date, notional amount, currency and strike price). 
The bank receives a premium for the transaction. Thus no fair value of 
outstanding options is carried on the bank's statement of financial position. 

(e) Transactions in foreign currencies 

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are converted into Kenya Shillings 
at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction or valuation where item are 
measured. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the 
exchange rate ruling at the reporting date other than the forwards contracts which are 
carried at prevailing forward rates. Resulting exchange differences are recognised in 
the profit and loss for the year. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currency are recorded at the exchange rate ruling at the transaction date. 

Translation differences related to non monetary financial assets and liabilities such as 
equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part 
of the fair value gain or loss, while those classified as available for sale are included 
in other comprehensive income. 

(f) Employee benefits 

(i) Retirement benefit schemes 

The majority of the bank's employees are eligible for retirement benefits under a 
defined contribution plan. Contributions to the defined contribution plan are 
charged to the profit or loss as incurred. 

The employees and the Bank also contribute to the NSSF, a national retirement 
scheme. Contributions are determined by local statutes and the Bank's 
contributions are charged to the profit or loss in the year to which they relate. 

(ii) Share based payments 

Certain categories of senior management are awarded ordinary shares in 
Citigroup Inc. (the ultimate holding company) based on their performance. The 
shares vest over a period of four years. The stock awards are recognised in the 
profit or loss on the award date at the market value of the shares on the award 
date. As the awards are categorised as equity-settled, no adjustment is made for 
fair value changes until the settlement date. The expense is recognised in profit 
or loss as it vests, with a corresponding entry to the equity compensation reserve. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(f) Employee benefits (continued) 

(iii) Short term benefits 

Short term employee benefits obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis 
and are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for 
the amount expensed to be paid under short term cash bonus. 

(iv) Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the bank is 
demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal 
detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, 
or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are 
recognised as an expense if the bank has made an offer encouraging voluntary 
redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of 
acceptances can be estimated reliably. 

(g) Taxation 

Income tax expense comprises current tax and change in deferred tax. Current tax is 
the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year 
using tax rates enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable or 
recoverable in respect of the previous year. 

The amount of current tax payable or recoverable is the best estimate of the tax 
amount that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes if any. 

Deferred tax is recognised on all temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, 
except differences relating to the initial recognition of assets or liabilities which 
affect neither accounting nor taxable profit. 

Deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rates currently enacted. A deferred 
tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred assets are reviewed 
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
the related tax benefit will be realised. 

(h) Property and equipment 

Items of buildings, equipment, furniture and fittings and motor vehicles are stated at 
cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is charged 
on the assets on a straight line basis to allocate the cost to their residual values over 
useful lives estimated as follows: 

- Buildings 
- Computer equipment and computer software 
- Furniture and equipment 
- Motor vehicles 

Over the period of the lease 
20% to 33 Y,% per annum. 
10% to 20% per annum. 
25% to 29% per annum. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(h) Property and equipment ( continued) 

The residual values of the assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date. Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are 
determined by reference to their carrying amount and are recognised in the profit or 
loss in the year in which they arise. 

(i) Intangible assets 

(j) 

(kl 

The costs incurred to acquire and bring to use specific computer software licences 
are capitalised. The costs are amortised on a straight line basis over the expected 
useful lives, from the date it is available for use, not exceeding three years. 

Computer development costs that are directly associated with the production of 
identifiable and unique software products that will probably generate economic 
benefits in excess of its costs are capitalised. The costs are amortised on a straight 
line basis over the expected useful lives, from the date that it is available for use, not 
exceeding three years. 

Costs associated with maintaining software are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

Operating leases 

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained 
by the lessor, are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating 
leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease. Prepaid operating lease rentals in respect of leasehold 
land is recognised as an asset and amortised over the lease period. 

Contingent liabilities 

Letters of credit, acceptances, guarantees and performance bonds are accounted for 
as off balance sheet transactions and disclosed as contingent liabilities. Estimates of 
the outcome and the financial effect of contingent liabilities is made by management 
based on the information available up to the date the financial statements are 
approved for issue by management. Any expected loss is charged to the profit or 
loss. 

(I) Related parties 

In the normal course of business the Bank has entered into transactions with related 
parties. The related party transactions are at arm's length. 

(ml Provisions 

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Bank has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the 
amount can be estimated reliably. 
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(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(n) Impairment for non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Bank's non-financial assets, other than deferred tax 
assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the assets' recoverable 
amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest 
identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from 
other assets and groups. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value 
in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. 

( o) Comparative information 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been restated to conform with changes in 
presentation in the current year. 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations 

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted during 
the year 

The Company has adopted the following new standards and amendments during 
the year ended 31 December 2018, including consequential amendments to other 
standards with the date of initial application by the Company being 1 January 
2018. The nature and effects of the changes are as explained here in. 

New standard or amendments Effective for annual 
periods beginning on 

or after 
- IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 

- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2014) 1 January 2018 

- Classification and Measurement of Share-based 1 January 2018 
Pavment Transactions (Amendments to IFRS 2) 

- Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with 1 January 2018 
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (Amendments to 
IFRS 4) 

- IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and 1 January2018 
Advance Consideration 

- IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property 1 January2018 

- Annual improvements cycle (2014-2016) 1 January 2018 
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(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted during 
the year - continued 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

This standard replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 
13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of 
Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers and SIC-31 Revenue -
Barter of Transactions Involving Advertising Services. 

The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and 
two approaches to recognising revenue: at a point in time or over time. The 
standard specifies how and when the Company will recognise revenue as well as 
requiring such entities to provide users of financial statements with more 
informative, relevant disclosures. 

The Company applied IFRS 15 on I January 2018 using the modified 
retrospective approach in which the cumulative effect of initially applying this 
Standard is recognised at the date of initial application as an adjustment to the 
opening balance of retained earnings as at I January 2018 without restating 
comparative periods. 

There was no material impact of application of IFRS 15 and no adjustment to 
retained earnings was required. 

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (2014) 

On 24 July 2014 the IASB issued the final IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
Standard, which replaces earlier versions of IFRS 9 and completes the IASB's 
project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

The new standard brings fundamental changes to the accounting for financial 
assets and to certain aspects of the accounting for financial liabilities. 

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, the Company has adopted consequential 
amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures that are applied to 
disclosures about 2018, but have not been applied to the comparative 
information. 

The key changes to the Bank's accounting policies resulting from its adoption of 
IFRS 9 are summarised below. The full impact of adopting the standard is set out 
in Note 4(a). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

(i) New standards, a111end111e11ts a11d interpretations effective and adopted during 
the year - continued 

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (2014) - continued 

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities 

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: 
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

IFRS 9 classification is generally based on the business model in which a 
financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flows. 

The standard eliminates the previous IAS 39 categories of held-to-maturity, loans 
and receivables and available-for-sale. Under IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in 
contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are never 
bifurcated. Instead, the whole hybrid instrument is assessed for classification. 
For an explanation of how the Bank classifies financial assets under IFRS 9. 

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification 
of financial liabilities. However, although under IAS 39 all fair value changes of 
liabilities designated under the fair value option were recognised in profit or loss, 
under IFRS 9 fair value changes are generally presented as follows: 

- the amount of change in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the 
credit risk of the liability is presented in OCI; and 

- the remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in profit or 
loss. 

For an explanation of how the Bank classifies financial liabilities under IFRS 9, 
see Note 3(c). 

Impairment of financial assets 

IFRS 9 replaces the 'incurred loss' model in IAS 39 with an 'expected credit 
loss' model. The new impairment model also applies to certain loan 
commitments and financial guarantee contracts but not to equity investments. 

Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39. For an 
explanation of how the Bank applies the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, see 
Note 3(c). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

(i) New sta11dards, ame11dme11ts and i11terpretatio11s effective a11d adopted duri11g 
the year - co11ti11ued 

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (2014) - continued 

Tra11sition 

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been 
applied retrospectively, except as described below. 

Comparative periods generally have not been restated. Differences in the 
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from the 
adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in retained earnings and reserves as at 1 
January 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 does not reflect 
the requirements of IFRS 9 and therefore is not comparable to the information 
presented for 2018 under IFRS 9. The Company used the exemption not to 
restate comparative periods. 

The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and 
circumstances that existed at the date of initial application. 

- The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is 
held. 

- Determination of factors to consider in determining whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk. 

- If a debt security had low credit risk at the date of initial application of IFRS 
9, then the Company has assumed that credit risk on the asset had not 
increased significantly since its initial recognition. 

Classification of financial assets and fi11a11cial liabilities 011 the date of initial 
application of IFRS 9 

The following detailed tabular disclosures showing the impact of transitioning 
from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 are given below as required by IFRS 9: 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (2014) - continued 

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities on the date of initial 
application of IFRS 9 - continued 

Transition impact of the carrying amount under IAS 39 to the carrying amount under IFRS 9 
on 1 Januarv 2018 

IAS39 IFRS9 
Carrying Carrying 

Note amount Re- Re- amount 
31 Dec 2017 classification measurement 1 Jan 2018 

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 
Financial assets 

Amortised cost 
Cash and balances with 

13 
Central Bank 
Opening Balance 8,206,639 - - 8,206,639 
Remeasurement - - - -

Closing Balance 8,206,639 - - 8,206,639 
Balances due from 

17 
forei = branches 
Opening Balance 12,586,332 - - 12,586,332 

Remeasurement - - - -
Closing Balance 12,586,332 12,586,332 
Loans and advances to 

18 (a) 
customers 
Opening Balance 37,625,944 - - 37,625,944 

Remeasurement - - (248,171) 

Closing Balance 37,625,944 (248,171) 37,377,773 
Placements with other 

16 
banks 
Opening Balance 1,500,740 - - 1,500,740 

Remeasurement - - - -
Closing Balance 1,500,740 - 1,500,740 

Other assets 1,121,430 - - 1,121,430 

Total amortised cost 61,041,085 - (248,171) 60,792,914 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

Classificatio11 of financial assets and financial liabilities 011 the date of initial 
application of IFRS 9 - continued 

Transition impact of the carrying amount under IAS 39 to the carrying amount under IFRS 9 
on 1 Januarv 2018 / continued) 

IAS39 
Carrying 

Note amount Re- Re-
31 Dec 2017 classification measurement 

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 
Available for Sale 
fFVOC" Securities 
Investments Securities 14 
Onenin<> Balance 35,298,964 - -
ToFVOCI 35,298,964 58,026 
ToFVTPL - -
To Amortised Cost - -
Closing Balance 35,298,964 35,298,964 58,026 
Fair Value Through 
P&LfFVTPV 
Derivative Financial 

15 91,543 
Instruments - -

Tota!FVTPL 91,543 - -
Financial liabilities 

Amortised cost -
Deposits from banks 23 10,515,676 - -
Deposits from 

24 64,368,910 - -customers 
Other liabilities 25 3,098,732 

Total Amortised Cost 77,983,318 - -
Fair Value Through 
P&L/FVTPL) 
Derivative Financial 

15 71,283 
Instruments - -

Tota!FVTPL 71,283 - -
The following table shows the original categories in accordance with IAS 39 and the new 
measurement categories under IFRS 9 for the Bank's financial assets and financial 
liabilities as at 1 January 2018: 
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IFRS9 
Carrying 

amount 
1 Jan 2018 
KShs '000 

-
35,356,990 

-

35,356,990 

91,543 

91,543 

10,515,676 

64,368,910 

3,098,732 

77,983,318 

71,283 

71,283 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continned) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

IFRS 9: Financial I11stru111e11ts (2014) - continued 

Classification of financial assets and fi11a11cial liabilities 011 the date of initial application of IFRS 9 - continued 

Original classification New classification under Original carrying amount 
Note underIAS 39 IFRS9 under IAS 39 KShs '000 

Financial assets 
Cash and balances with Central Bank 13 Loans and receivables Amortised cost 8,206,639 

Other assets 19 Loans and receivables Amortised cost 1,121,430 

FVOCI securities 14 Available for sale FVOCI 35,298,964 

Balances due from foreign branches 17 Loans and receivables Amortised cost 12,586,332 

Placements with other banks 16 Loans and receivables Amortised cost 1,500,740 
Derivative instruments 15 Held for trading FVTPL 91,543 
Loans and advances to customers (net) 18 (a) Loans and receivables Amortised cost 37,625,944 

Total financial assets 96,431,592 

Financial liabilities Original classification New classification under Original carrying amount 
under IAS 39 IFRS9 under IAS 39 KShs '000 

Deposits from banking institutions 23 Amortised cost Amortised cost 10,515,676 

Derivative instruments 15 Held for trading FVTPL 71,283 

Customer deposits 24 Amortised cost Amortised cost 64,368,910 

Other liabilities 25 Amortised cost Amortised cost 3,098,732 

Total financial liabilities 78,054,601 

New carrying 
amount under 

IFRS9 
KShs '000 

8,206,639 
1,121,430 

35,356,990 
12,586,332 

1,500,740 
91,543 

37,377,773 

96,241,447 
New carrying 
amount under 

IFRS9 
KShs '000 
10,515,676 

71,283 

64,368,910 

3,098,732 

78,054,601 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continned) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (2014) - continued 

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities on the date of initial application of IFRS 9 - continued 

The following table summarizes the impact of transition to IFRS 9 on the opening balance on the retained earnings and fair value reserve. 
There is no impact on other components of equity. 

2018 

As at January 2018 
IFRS 9 Initial application adjustments -
FV OCI Instruments 
IFRS 9 Initial application adjustments -
amortised cost 
IFRS 9 Initial application adjustments -
deferred tax 

Restated balance as at 1 January 2018 

Assigned 
capital 

KShs'OOO 

4,582,975 

4,582,975 

Retained Fair value 
earnings reserve 

KShs'OOO KShs'OOO 

14,747,302 27,951 

( 58,026) 58,026 

( 248,171) 

93,064 (21,760) 

14,534,169 64,217 

Statutory Equity 
credit risk compensation 

reserve reserve Total 
KShs'OOO KShs'OOO KShs'OOO 

726,020 93,063 20,177,311 

( 248,171) 

- - 71,304 

726,020 93,063 20,000,444 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted during 
the year - continued 

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions 
(Amendments to IFRS 2) 

The following clarifications and amendments are contained m the 
pronouncement: 

- Accounting for cash-settled share-based payment transactions that include a 
performance condition 

Up until this point, IFRS 2 contained no guidance on how vesting conditions 
affect the fair value of liabilities for cash-settled share-based payments. 
IASB has now added guidance that introduces accounting requirements for 
cash-settled share-based payments that follows the same approach as used for 
equity-settled share-based payments. 

- Classification of share-based payment transactions with net settlement 
features 

IASB has introduced an exception into IFRS 2 so that a share-based payment 
where the entity settles the share-based payment arrangement net is classified 
as equity-settled in its entirety provided the share-based payment would have 
been classified as equity-settled had it not included the net settlement feature. 

- Accounting for modifications of share-based payment transactions from 
cash-settled to equity-settled 

Up until this point, IFRS 2 did not specifically address situations where a 
cash-settled share-based payment changes to an equity-settled share-based 
payment because of modifications of the terms and conditions. The IASB has 
introduced the following clarifications: 

On such modifications, the original liability recognised in respect of the 
cash-settled share-based payment is derecognised and the equity-settled 
share-based payment is recognised at the modification date fair value to 
the extent services have been rendered up to the modification date. 
Any difference between the carrying amount of the liability as at the 
modification date and the amount recognised in equity at the same date 
would be recognised in profit and loss immediately. 

The amendments were effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018. Earlier application was permitted. The amendments were to be 
applied prospectively. However, retrospective application was allowed if 
possible without the use of hindsight. If an entity applies the amendments 
retrospectively, it must do so for all of the amendments described above. 

The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's 
financial statements. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted during 
the year - continued 

Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts 
(Amendments to IFRS 4) 

The amendments in Applying IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' with IFRS 4 
'Insurance Contracts' (Amendments to IFRS 4) provide two options for entities 
that issue insurance contracts within the scope ofIFRS 4: 

an option that pennits entities to reclassify, from profit or loss to other 
comprehensive income, some of the income or expenses arising from 
designated financial assets; this is the so-called overlay approach; 
an optional temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 for entities whose 
predominant activity is issuing contracts within the scope of IFRS 4; this is 
the so-called deferral approach. 

The application of both approaches is optional and an entity is pennitted to stop 
applying them before the new insurance contracts standard is applied. 

An entity applies the overlay approach retrospectively to qualifying financial 
assets when it first applies IFRS 9. Application of the overlay approach requires 
disclosure of sufficient information to enable users of financial statements to 
understand how the amount reclassified in the reporting period is calculated and 
the effect of that reclassification on the financial statements. 

An entity applies the deferral approach for annual periods beginning on or after I 
January 2018. Predominance is assessed at the reporting entity level at the 
annual reporting date that immediately precedes I April 2016. Application of the 
deferral approach needs to be disclosed together with information that enables 
users of financial statements to understand how the insurer qualified for the 
temporary exemption and to compare insurers applying the temporary exemption 
with entities applying IFRS 9. The deferral can only be made use of for the three 
years following I January 2018. Predominance is only reassessed if there is a 
change in the entity's activities. 

The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's 
financial statements. 

IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration 

This Interpretation applies to a foreign currency transaction (or part of it) when 
an entity recognises a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from 
the payment or receipt of advance consideration before the entity recognises the 
related asset, expense or income (or part of it). 

Page 47 



CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(pl New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted during 
tlze year - continued 

IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration - continued 

This Interpretation stipulates that the date of the transaction for the purpose of 
determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, 
expense or income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity initially 
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the 
payment or receipt of advance consideration. 

This Interpretation does not apply to income taxes, insurance contracts and 
circumstances when an entity measures the related asset, expense or income on 
initial recognition: 

IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration 

(a) at fair value; or 
(b) at the fair value of the consideration paid or received at a date other than the 

date of initial recognition of the non-monetary asset or non-monetary 
liability arising from advance consideration (for example, the measurement 
of goodwill applying IFRS 3 Business Combinations). 

The amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018, with early application permitted. 

The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's 
financial statements. 

Transfers of Investment property (Amendments to !AS 40) 

The IASB has amended the requirements in IAS 40 Investment property on when 
a Company should transfer a property asset to, or from, investment property. 

The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the amounts and 
disclosures of the Company's financial statements. 

Annual improvement cycle (2014 - 2016) - various standards 

Standards Amendments 
Outdated exemptions for first-time adopters of IFRS 

IFRS 1 First-time are removed. 
Adoption of IFRS The amendments apply prospectively for annual 

oeriods be!!innin!! on or after 1 Januarv 2018. 
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<KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

(i) New standards, amendments and inte1pretations effective and adopted during 
the year - continued 

Annual improvement cycle (2014 - 2016) - various standards - continued 

Standards Amendments 
A venture capital organisation, or other qualifyini 
entity, may elect to measure its investments in an 
associate or joint venture at fair value through profit 01 
loss. This election can be made on an investment-by 
investment basis. 

IAS 28 Investments in A non-investment entity investor may elect to retain 
Associates and Joint the fair value accounting applied by an investmen 
Ventures entity associate or investment entity joint venture to its 

subsidiaries. This election can be made separately fo1 
each investment entity associate or joint venture. 
The amendments apply retrospectively for annual 
periods beginning on or after I January 2018; earl: 
annlication is permitted. 

The adoption of these standards did not have a material impact on the amounts 
and disclosures of the Company's financial statements. 

(ii) New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are 
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2018, and have not been 
applied in preparing these financial statements.The Company does not plan to 
adopt these standards early. These are summarised below; 

- IFRS 16 Leases I Januarv 2019 
- IFRIC 23 Uncertaintv over income tax treatments I Januarv 2019 
- IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative I January 2019 

Compensation 
- IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint I January 2019 

Ventures 
- Annual improvements cvcle (2015-2017) I Januarv 2019 
- IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or I January 2019 

Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19) 
- IFRS 3 Definition of a Business I J anuarv 2020 
- Amendments to references to the Conceptual I January 2020 

Framework in IFRS Standards 
- Amendments to IAS I and IAS 8 Definition of I January 2020 

Material 
- IFRS I 7 Insurance contracts I Januarv 2022 
- Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor To be determined 

and its Associate or Company (Amendments to 
IFRS IO and IAS 28). 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continned) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continned) 

(ii) New and amended standards and inte1pretations in issue but not yet effective 
for the year ended 31 December 2018- continued 

All standards and interpretations will be adopted at their effective date ( except 
for those standards and interpretations that are not applicable to the entity). 

lFRS 16: Leases 

On 13 January 2016 the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases, completing the IASB's 
project to improve the financial reporting of leases. IFRS 16 replaces the 
previous leases standard, !AS 17 Leases, and related interpretations. 

IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation 
and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract, i.e. the customer ('lessee') 
and the supplier ('lessor'). The standard defines a lease as a contract that 
conveys to the customer (' lessee') the right to use an asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. 

A Company assesses whether a contract contains a lease on the basis of whether 
the customer has the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time. 

The standard eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or 
finance leases for a lessee and introduces a single lessee accounting model. All 
leases are treated in a similar way to finance leases. 

Applying that model significantly affects the accounting and presentation of 
leases and consequently, the lessee is required to recognise: 

Assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless 
the underlying asset is of low value. A Company recognises the present value of 
the unavoidable lease payments and shows them either as lease assets (right-of
use assets) or together with property, plant and equipment. If lease payments are 
made over time, a Company also recognises a financial liability representing its 
obligation to make future lease payments. 

(i) depreciation of lease assets and interest on lease liabilities in profit or loss 
over the lease term; and 

(ii) separate the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented 
within financing activities) and interest (typically presented within either 
operating or financing activities) in the statement of cash flows 

IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in !AS 
17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or 
finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently. 
However, compared to !AS 17, IFRS 16 requires a lessor to disclose additional 
information about how it manages the risks related to its residual interest in 
assets subject to leases. 
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(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

(ii) New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective 
for the year e11ded 31 December 2018 - co11ti11ued 

IFRS 16: Leases - continued 

The standard does not require a Company to recognise assets and liabilities for: 
(a) short-term leases (i.e. leases of 12 months or less) and; 
(b) leases oflow-value assets 

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019. Early application is permitted insofar as the recently issued revenue 
Standard, IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is also applied. 

The Company is still assessing the potential impact on the amounts and 
disclosures of the Company's financial statements. 

IFRIC 23 Clarification on accounting/or Income tax exposures 

IFRIC 23 clarifies the accounting for income tax treatments that have yet to be 
accepted by tax authorities, whilst also aiming to enhance transparency. 

IFRIC 23 explains how to recognise and measure deferred and current income 
tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment. 

An uncertain tax treatment is any tax treatment applied by an entity where there 
is uncertainty over whether that treatment will be accepted by the tax authority. 

If an entity concludes that it is probable that the tax authority will accept an 
uncertain tax treatment that has been taken or is expected to be taken on a tax 
return, it should determine its accounting for income taxes consistently with that 
tax treatment. If an entity concludes that it is not probable that the treatment will 
be accepted, it should reflect the effect of the uncertainty in its income tax 
accounting in the period in which that determination is made. Uncertainty is 
reflected in the overall measurement of tax and separate provision is not 
allowed. 

The entity is required to measure the impact of the uncertainty using the method 
that best predicts the resolution of the uncertainty (that is, the entity should use 
either the most likely amount method or the expected value method when 
measuring an uncertainty). 

The entity will also need to provide disclosures, under existing disclosure 
requirements, about 

(a) judgments made; 
(b) assumptions and other estimates used; and 
( c) potential impact of uncertainties not reflected. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

(ii) New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective 
for the year ended 31 December 2018- continued 

IFRJC 23 Clarification on accounting for Income tax exposures - continued 

The new Standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after I January 
2019. 

The Company is assessing the potential impact on its financial statements 
resulting from the application ofIFRIC 23. 

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9) 

The amendments clarify that financial assets containing prepayment features 
with negative compensation can now be measured at amortised cost or at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) if they meet the other 
relevant requirements of IFRS 9. 

The amendments apply for annual periods beginning on or after I January 2019 
with retrospective application, early adoption is permitted. 

The adoption of these amendments will not have an impact on the financial 
statements of the Group and Company. 

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendment to IAS 28) 

The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 to long-term interests in an 
associate and joint venture that form part of the net investment in the associate or 
joint venture but to which the equity method is not applied. 

The amendments apply for annual periods beginning on or after I January 2019. 
Early adoption is permitted. 

The adoption of these standards will not have an impact on the financial 
statements of the Company. 

Annual improvement cycle (2015 -2017)-various standards 

Standards Amendments 

Clarifies how a Company accounts for increasing it1 
interest in a joint operation that meets the definition of i 
business: 

IFRS 3 Business If a party maintains (or obtains) joint control, then th, -
Combinations and previously held interest is not remeasured. 
IFRS 11 Joint 
Arrangements - If a party obtains control, then the transaction is r 

business combination achieved in stages and thf 
acquiring party remeasures the previously held interes 
at fair value. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

(ii) New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective 
for the year ended 31 December 2018- continued 

Annual improvement cycle (2015 - 2017) - various standards - continued 

Standards Amendments 

Clarifies that all income tax consequences of dividends 
(including payments on financial instruments classifiec 

IAS 121ncome taxes as equity) are recognised consistently with th( 
transactions that generated the distributable profits - Le. 
in profit or loss, OCI or equity, 

Clarifies that the general borrowings pool used tc 
calculate eligible borrowing costs excludes onJ, 
borrowings that specifically finance qualifying assets tha 
are still under development or construction. Borrowingi 
that were intended to specifically finance qualifyin1 

IAS 23 Borrowing assets that are now ready for their intended use or sale -
costs or any non-qualifying assets - are included in that genera 

pooL 
As the costs of retrospective application might outweigl 
the benefits, the changes are applied prospectively tc 
borrowing costs incurred on or after the date an entit: 
adoots the amendments. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
I January 2019 with earlier application permitted, The adoption of these 
amendments is not expected to affect the amounts and disclosures of the 
Company's financial statements. 

The Company did not early adopt new or amended standards in the year ended 31 
December 2018. 

IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to !AS 19) 

The amendments clarify that: 

on amendment, curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan, a 
Company now uses updated actuarial assumptions to determine its current 
service cost and net interest for the period; and 

- the effect of the asset ceiling is disregarded when calculating the gain or loss 
on any settlement of the plan and is dealt with separately in other 
comprehensive income (OCI). 

Consistent with the calculation of a gain or loss on a plan amendment, entities 
will now use updated actuarial assumptions to determine the current service cost 
and net interest for the period. Previously, entities would not have updated the 
calculation of these costs until the year-end. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations ( continued) 

(ii) New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 - continued 

!AS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to !AS 19)
continued 

Further, if a defined benefit plan is settled, any asset ceiling would be 
disregarded when determining the plan assets as part of the calculation of gain or 
loss on settlement. 

The amendments apply for plan amendments, curtailments or settlements that 
occur on or after I January 2019, or the date on which the amendments are first 
applied. Earlier application is permitted. 

The adoption of this standard will not have an impact on the financial statements 
of the Company. 

IFRS 3 Definition of a Business 

With a broad business definition, determining whether a transaction results in an 
asset or a business acquisition has long been a challenging but important area of 
judgement. These amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations seek to clarify 
this matter as below however complexities still remain. 

Optional concentration test 
The amendments include an election to use a concentration test. This is a 
simplified assessment that results in an asset acquisition if substantially all 
of the fair value of the gross assets is concentrated in a single identifiable 
asset or a group of similar identifiable assets. 

Substantive process 
If an entity chooses not to apply the concentration test, or the test is failed, 
then the assessment focuses on the existence of a substantive process. 
The definition of a business is now narrower and could result in fewer 
business combinations being recognised. 

The amendment applies to businesses acquired in annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after I January 2020. Earlier application is permitted. The 
adoption of this standard will not have an impact on the financial statements of 
the Company. 

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards 

This amendment sets out amendments to IFRS Standards (Standards), their 
accompanying documents and IFRS practice statements to reflect the issue of the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) revised Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting in 2018 (2018 Conceptual Framework). 
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(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

(ii) New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective 
for the year ended 31 December 2018- continued 

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards -
continued 

Some Standards, their accompanying documents and IFRS practice statements 
contain references to, or quotations from, the IASC's Framework for the 
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements adopted by the IASB in 
2001 (Framework) or the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued 
in 2010. Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS 
Standards updates some of those references and quotations so that they refer to 
the 2018 Conceptual Framework, and makes other amendments to clarify which 
version of the Conceptual Framework is referred to in particular documents. 

These amendments are based on proposals in the Exposure Draft Updating 
References to the Conceptual Framework, published in 2015, and amend 
Standards, their accompanying documents and IFRS practice statements that will 
be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 

The adoption of these changes will not affect the amounts and disclosures of the 
Company's financial statements. 

!AS 1 and !AS 8 Definition of Material 

The amendment refines the definition of Material to make it easier to understand 
and aligning the definition across IFRS Standards and the Conceptual 
Framework. 

The amendment includes the concept of 'obscuring' to the definition, alongside 
the existing references to 'omitting' and 'misstating'. Additionally, the 
amendments also adds the increased threshold of 'could influence' to 'could 
reasonably be expected to influence' as below. 

"Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably 
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which 
provide financial information about a specific reporting entity. " 

However, the amendment has also removed the definition of material omissions 
or misstatements from IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors. 

The amendments are effective from 1 January 2020 but may be applied earlier. 

The Company is assessing the potential impact on its financial statements 
resulting from the application of the refined definition of materiality. 
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(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued) 

(ii) New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 - continued 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 

IFRS 1 7 Insurance Contracts sets out the requirements that an entity should apply 
in reporting information about insurance contracts it issues and reinsurance 
contracts it holds. An entity shall apply IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts to: 

(a) insurance contracts, including reinsurance contracts, it issues; 
(b) reinsurance contracts it holds; and 

investment contracts with discretionary participation features it issues, 
provided the entity also issues insurance contracts. 

IFRS 17 requires an entity that issues insurance contracts to report them on the 
statement of financial position as the total of: 

(a) the fulfilment cash flows-the current estimates of amounts that the entity 
expects to collect from premiums and pay out for claims, benefits and 
expenses, including an adjustment for the timing and risk of those amounts; 
and 

(b) the contractual service margin-the expected profit for providing insurance 
coverage. The expected profit for providing insurance coverage is recognised 
in profit or loss over time as the insurance coverage is provided. 

IFRS 17 requires an entity to recognise profits as it delivers insurance services, 
rather than when it receives premiums, as well as to provide information about 
insurance contract profits that the Company expects to recognise in the future. 
IFRS 17 requires an entity to distinguish between groups of contracts expected 
to be profit making and groups of contracts expected to be loss making. Any 
expected losses arising from loss-making, or onerous, contracts are accounted 
for in profit or loss as soon as the Company determines that losses are expected. 
IFRS 17 requires the entity to update the fulfilment cash flows at each reporting 
date, using current estimates of the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash 
flows and of discount rates. The entity: 

(a) accounts for changes to estimates of future cash flows from one reporting 
date to another either as an amount in profit or loss or as an adjustment to 
the expected profit for providing insurance coverage, depending on the type 
of change and the reason for it; and 

(b) chooses where to present the effects of some changes in discount rates-
either in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. 

IFRS 1 7 also requires disclosures to enable users of financial statements to 
understand the amounts recognised in the entity's statement of financial 
position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, and to 
assess the risks the Company faces from issuing insurance contracts. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(p) New standards, amendments and interpretations ( continued) 

(ii) New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective 
for the year ended 31 December 2018- continued 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts - continued 

IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. IFRS 1 7 is effective for financial 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2021. An entity shall apply the 
standard retrospectively unless impracticable. A Company can choose to apply 
IFRS 17 before that date, but only if it also applies IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 

The adoption of these changes will not affect the amounts and disclosures of the 
Company's financial statements. 

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Company (Amendments to IFRS 10 and !AS 28) 

The amendments require the full gain to be recognised when assets transferred 
between an investor and its associate or Company meet the definition of a 
'business' under IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Where the assets transferred 
do not meet the definition of a business, a partial gain to the extent of unrelated 
investors' interests in the associate or Company is recognised. The definition of 
a business is key to determining the extent of the gain to be recognised. 

The effective date for these changes has now been postponed until the 
completion of a broader review. 

The adoption of these changes will not affect the amounts and disclosures of the 
Company's financial statements. 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES 

This section provides details of the bank's exposure to risk and describes the methods used 
by management to control risk in respect of financial instruments. The most important types 
of financial risk to which the bank is exposed to are credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk 
and market risk. Market risk includes interest rate risk and currency risk. 

Being a branch, the bank does not have a board of directors but a Management Committee 
which has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank's risk 
management framework. 

Through its risk management structure, the bank seeks to manage efficiently the core risks; 
credit, liquidity and market risk, which arise directly through the bank's commercial 
activities. In addition compliance, regulatory risk and operational risk are normal 
consequences of any business undertaking. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

The Management Committee has established the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO), 
Credit Committee (CC), Business Credit Committee (BCC) and the Business Risk and 
Controls Committee (BRCC), which are responsible for developing and monitoring the 
bank's risk management policies in their specified areas. 

The bank's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to 
limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in 
market conditions, products and services offered. The bank, through its training and 
management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control 
environment, in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk 111anage111ent 

Credit risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from an obliger's failure to meet the 
terms of any contract or to otherwise fail to perform as agreed. 

The bank has well documented policies and procedures for managing credit risk. The 
policies are based on the principles of: 

Management responsibility 
Defined credit approval authorities 
Set standards for risk measurement 
Consistent approach to origination of credit, documentation and problem 
recognition 
Portfolio management strategies. 

The risk that counterparties might default on their obligations is monitored on an 
ongoing basis. 

To manage the level of credit risk, the bank deals with counterparties of good credit 
standing and for which in its assessment the transactions are appropriate and risks 
understood by the counterparty. 

Credit risk manage111ent 

The bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the 
amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to 
geographical and industry segments. 

Significant increase of credit risk (SICR) 

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or 
lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what 
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. Instead management, in assessing 
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Bank takes into 
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking 
information. Refer to note 3(b) (i) for more details. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Stage 3 definition of default 

As mentioned above, to determine whether an instrument should move to a lifetime 
ECL, the change in the risk of a default occurring over the expected life of the financial 
instruments must be considered. 

The Bank applies a default definition that is consistent with that used for internal credit 
risk management purposes for the relevant financial instrument and consider qualitative 
indicators (for example, financial covenants) when appropriate. The definition of 
default used for this purpose is applied consistently to all financial instruments unless 
information becomes available that demonstrates another default definition is more 
appropriate for a particular financial instrument. 

Credit quality 

The following table sets out information about the credit quality and credit risk 
exposure of financial assets measured at amortised cost (31 December 2018) and loans 
and receivables (31 December 2017). Unless specifically indicated the amounts 
represent gross carrying amounts. For loan commitments, the amounts in the table 
represent the undrawn portion of amounts committed. Loan commitments are overdraft 
facilities. Explanations of the terms 'stage l ', 'stage 2', and 'stage 3' is included in this 
note. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continned) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Credit quality - continued 

Lifetime ECL 
Lifetime ECL 

12monthECL not credit credit impaired Risk classification impaired 
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Loans and advances at 
amortised cost 

Stage 1 24,054,255 - -

Stage 2 
- 3,021,766 -

Stage 3 
- 819,447 -

Gross carrying amount 24.054.255 3,021,766 819,447 

Purchased credit 
impaired 

KShs '000 

-

-

-

-

Total Total 
31 December 31 December 

2018 2017 
KShs '000 KShs '000 

24,054,255 35,405,223 

3,021,766 1,051,315 

819,447 1,723,695 

27,895,467 38,180,233 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Credit lit " - con tinned 

Cash and 
balances with 

FVOCI Central Bank Derivative Balances due from 
2018 Securities ofKenva Instruments Other assets forei<'n banks 

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Stage 1 32,488,123 7,365,179 49,815 527,903 16,164,847 
Stage 2 - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - -

Gross Carrvino total 32,488,123 7,365,179 49,815 527,903 16.164,847 

Cash and 
balances with 

FVOCI Central Bank Derivative Balances due from 
2017 Securities of Kenya Instruments Other assets forei<'n banks 

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Stage 1 35,298,964 8,206,639 91,543 1,121,340 12,586,332 

Stage 2 - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - -

Gross Carrying total 35,298,964 8.206.639 91,543 1,121,340 12,586,332 

==-"'"'"' 

Placement with Off balance 
other banks sheet items 

KShs '000 KShs '000 

4 
15,127,973 

- 2,000 
- 51,028 

4 15,181,001 

Placement with Off balance 
other banks sheet items 

KShs '000 KShs '000 
1,500,740 13,885,012 

- 2,160,239 

- 206,515 

1.500.740 16.251,766 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Allowances for impairment 

The IFRS 9 impairment standard applies to any debt instruments measured at amortised 
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income and also to off balance sheet 
loan commitments and financial guarantees. 

Expected credit loss impairment model 

Credit loss allowances will be measured on each reporting date according to a three
Stage expected credit loss impairment model under which each financial asset is 
classified in one of the stages below: 

Stage 1 - From initial recognition of a financial asset to the date on which the asset 
has experienced a significant increase in credit risk relative to its initial 
recognition, a loss allowance is recognized equal to the credit losses expected to 
result from defaults expected over the next 12 months. Interest is calculated based 
on the gross carrying amount of the asset. 
Stage 2 - Following a significant increase in credit risk relative to the risk at initial 
recognition of the financial asset, a loss allowance is recognized equal to the full 
credit losses expected over the remaining life of the asset. Interest is calculated 
based on the gross carrying amount of the asset. 

The credit losses for financial assets in Stage 1 and Stage 2 are measured as the present 
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity 
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive). 

Stage 3 - When a financial asset is considered to be credit-impaired, a loss 
allowance equal to the full lifetime expected credit losses will be recognized. 
Credit losses are measured as the difference between the gross carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows. Interest revenue is calculated 
based on the carrying amount of the asset, net of the loss allowance, rather than on 
its gross carrying amount. 

Evidence that a financial asset is impaired includes observable data that comes to the 
attention of the Bank such as: 

Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 
A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments; 

- It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; 

- The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties; or 
Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition of 
those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual 
financial assets in the portfolio, including: 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Allowances for impairment - co11ti11ued 

Expected credit loss impairment model - continued 

adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; and 
national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets 
in the portfolio. 

Loans are written off when there is no realistic probability ofrecovery. 
The estimation of an expected credit loss (ECL) is required to be unbiased and 
probability weighted, including information about past events, current conditions and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions at the 
reporting date. The estimate also considers the time value of money. 

The measurement of an ECL is primarily determined by an assessment of the financial 
asset's probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure at default 
(EAD) where the cash shortfalls are discounted to the reporting date. For a financial 
asset in Stage 1, the Bank will utilise a 12-month PD, whereas a financial asset within 
Stage 2 and Stage 3 will utilise a lifetime PD in order to estimate an impairment 
allowance. 

Wholesale Classifiably Managed Exposures 

An impairment allowance will be estimated for Corporate loans utilising sophisticated 
models depending on the relative size, quality and complexity of the portfolios. 

The bank exposure to credit risk is analysed as follows: 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Allowances for impairment - continued 

31-Dec-18 
Lifetime ECL not 

Amounts in KShs 
12 monthECL credit impaired 

(Stage 1) (Stage 2) 
KShs '000 KShs '000 

Loss allowance-Loans and advances and 
off balance sheet at amortised cost 
Loss allowance as at 1 January 4,879 -
IFRS 9 transition adjustment 22,645 28,405 
Adjusted balance at 1 January 27,523 28,405 
Transfer to 12 months ECL (Stage 1) - 858 
Transfer to Lifetime ECL not credit 
impaired (Stage 2) 218,854 -
Transfer to Lifetime ECL credit impaired 

- -
(Stage 3) 
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (213,045) 188,092 
New financial assets originated or - -
purchased 
Changes in models/risk parameters - -
Foreign exchange and other movements - -
Financial assets derecognised - -
Write off - -
Recoveries from write off - -

Loss allowance as at 31 December 33,332 217,355 

Lifetime ECL 
credit impaired 

(Stage 3) Total 
KShs '000 KShs '000 

549,411 554,289 
197,122 248,172 
746,533 802,461 

- 858 

- 218,854 

- -

354,742 329,789 

- -

- -

- -
- -
- -

(340,146) (340,146) 

761,129 1,011,816 

~ 

31-Dec-17 

Specific Collective 
impairment impairment Total 

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

437,031 7,509 444,540 
- -

437,031 7,509 444,540 
- - -

- - -

- - -

112,380 (2,631) 109,749 

- - -

- - -

- - -
- - -
- - -
- - -

549,411 4,878 554,289 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 

~ ~--- .. --· ___ .., . -..... ,., ---· ··--·-- -------------
Cash and 

balances with 
FVOCI Central Bank Derivative 

2018 Securities of Kenya Instruments 
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Stage 1 32,488,124 7,365,179 49,815 
Stage 2 - - -
Stage 3 - - -

Gross Carrying total 32,488,124 7,365,179 49,815 

Loss allowance ( 119,877) - -
Net Carrying total 32,368,247 7,365,179 49,815 

Cash and 
balances with 

FVOCI Central Bank Derivative 
2017 Securities of Kenya Instruments 

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 
Stage I 35,298,964 8,206,639 91,543 
Stage 2 - - -
Stage 3 - - -

Gross Carrying total 35,298,964 8,206,639 91,543 

Loss allowance ( 58,026) - -

Net Carrying total 35,240,938 8,206,639 91,543 

Balances 
due from 

foreign 
Other assets banks 

KShs '000 KShs '000 
527,903 16,164,847 

- -
- -

527,903 16,164,847 

- -

527,903 16,164,847 
Balances 
due from 

foreign 
Other assets banks 

KShs '000 KShs '000 
1,121,340 12,586,332 

- -
- -

1,121,340 12,586,332 

- -

1,121,340 12,586,332 

Placement 
with other Off balance 

banks sheet items 
KShs '000 KShs '000 

4 15,127,973 
- 2,000 
- 51,028 

4 15,181,001 

- ( 117,765) I 
4 15,063,236 

Placement 
with other Off balance 

banks sheet items 
KShs '000 KShs '000 
1,500,740 13,885,012 

- 2,160,239 
- 206,515 

1,500,740 16,251,766 

- (117,303) 

1,500,740 16,134,463 

The bank held Government securities worth KShs 179,150,000 (2017 - KShs 189,150,000) as collateral against some of its loans and advances. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Write-off policy 

The bank writes off a loan / security balance (and any related allowances for impairment 
losses) when the bank determines that the loans / securities are uncollectible. This 
determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of significant 
changes in the borrower financial position such that the borrower can no longer pay the 
obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire 
exposure. 

Derivatives 

The credit risk arising from derivatives is managed as part of the overall lending limits to 
banks and customers. The amount of credit risk is the current positive fair value of the 
underlying contract together with potential exposures from future market movements. The 
Group further limits its exposures to credit losses in the event of default by entering into 
master netting agreements with certain market counterparties. Exposures are not presented 
net in the financial statements as in the ordinary course of business they are not intended to 
be settled net. 

Where appropriate, derivatives are used to reduce credit risks in the portfolio. Due to their 
potential impact on income volatility, derivatives are only used in a controlled manner and 
within a pre-defined volatility expectation 

(b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from 
its financial liabilities. The bank's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under 
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the bank's reputation. 

Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the bank's activities and in the management of 
positions. It includes both the risk of being unable to fund assets at appropriate maturities 
and rates and the risk of being unable to liquidate an asset at a reasonable price and in an 
appropriate timeframe. 

ALCO is responsible for ensuring that the bank manages its liquidity risk and is able to meet 
all its obligations to make payments as and when they fall due. It also has primary 
responsibility for compliance with regulations and bank policy and maintaining a liquidity 
crisis contingency plan. 

The bank maintains a portfolio of short term liquid assets, largely made up of short term 
liquid investment securities, loans and advances to banks and other inter-bank facilities, to 
ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained with daily liquidity positions being monitored. 

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and 
liabilities is fundamental to the management ofliquidity risk. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

(b) Liquidity risk ( continued) 

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, 
interest bearing liabilities as they mature are important factors in assessing the liquidity of 
the bank and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates. 

A substantial portion of the bank's assets are funded by customer deposits made up of 
current and savings accounts and other deposits. These customer deposits, which are widely 
diversified by type and maturity, represent a stable source of funds. Lending is normally 
funded by liabilities in the same currency. 

The bank also maintains significant levels of marketable securities either for compliance 
with statutory requirements or as prudential investments of surplus funds. 

A key measure of liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets to deposit liabilities. The 
Central Bank of Kenya requires banks to maintain a statutory minimum ratio of 20% of 
liquid assets to all its deposit liabilities. 

For this purpose, liquid assets comprises cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya, net 
balances with financial institutions, treasury bonds and bills and net balances with banks 
abroad. 

Deposit liabilities comprise deposits from customers, other liabilities that have matured or 
maturing within 91 days. 

The liquidity ratios at the reporting date and during the reporting period (based on month end 
ratios) were as follows: 

2018 2017 

At 31 December 75.2% 64.5% 
Average for the period 72.6% 78.6% 
Highest for the period 73.1% 95.8% 
Lowest for the period 64.7% 64.5% 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

(b) Liquidity risk ( continued) 

Residual contractual maturities of financial liabilities: 
31 December 2018 Due within 3 Due between 3 Due between Due after 

On demand months and 12 months 1 and 5 years 5 years Total 
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Financial liabilities 
Deposits from banks 2,842,885 499,375 5,905,900 - 9,248,160 
Derivative instruments 27,691 - 27,691 
Due to customers 53,638,448 140,500 1,010,054 54,789,002 
Other liabilities 1,662,862 501,386 2,164,248 

58,171,886 1,141,261 6,915,954 - 66,229,101 

Due within 3 Due between 3 Due between Due after 
31 December 2017 On demand months and 12 months 1 and 5 years 5 years Total 

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 
Financial liabilities 
Deposits from banks 8,355,276 - 2,160,400 10,515,676 
Derivative instruments 71,283 - - 71,283 
Due to customers 61,276,434 25,000 3,067,476 - 64,368,910 
Other liabilities 2,453,829 644,903 3,098,732 

72,156,822 669,903 5,227,876 - 78,054,601 

Customer deposits up to three months represent current and call deposit account balances, which past experience has shown to be stable 
and of a long term nature. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (Continued) 

(c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate and foreign 
exchange rates will affect the Bank's income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. 

The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest 
rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest rate risk is managed principally 
through monitoring interest rate gaps and by having pre-approved limits for repricing 
bands. 

The Bank is also exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency 
exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. Currency risk is managed 
principally through limits set on the level of exposure by currency and in total for both 
overnight and intra-day positions which are monitored daily. 

Overall responsibility for market risk is vested in ALCO. 

Sensitivity analysis interest rate risk 

The sensitivity analysis on the accrual book is measured by the change in DVO 1 (Dollar 
value of O I) that measures the change in value of the accrual portfolio due to a 1 basis 
point parallel move in the interest rates. At 31 December 2018, a 1 basis point parallel 
increase in the interest rates with all other variables held constant would have resulted to a 
pre-tax loss movement ofKShs-1,995 (2017-KShs -537,070,513). 

(i) Interest rate risk 

The Bank is exposed to various risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the 
prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. The 
table below summarises the exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are 
the Bank's assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of 
contractual reprising or maturity dates. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

(ii) Interest rate risk 

,_,, _ _,.,,, 

The Bank is exposed to various risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its 
financial position and cash flows. The table below summarises the exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the Bank's 
assets and liabilities at canying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 

31 December 2018 

Cash and balances with Central Bank 
Other assets 
FVOCI Securities 
Due from foreign branches 
Dne from other banks 
Derivative instruments 
Loans and advances to customers (net) 

Total financial assets 

Financial liabilities and equity 
Deposits from banking institutions 
Derivative instruments 
Customer deposits 
Other liabilities 

Total financial liabilities 

Interest rate sensitivity gap 

Effective 
interest rate 

% 

11.00% 
0.00% 
8.40% 

7.19% 

3.40% 

5.85% 

Within 3 Between 3 
months and 12 months 

KShs '000 

1,075,330 
10,916,552 
16,164,847 

4 

20,945,557 

49,102,290 

3,342,260 

53,778,948 
1,662,862 

58,784,070 

( 9,681,780) 

KShs '000 

20,557,351 

2,699,064 

23,256,415 

5,905,900 

1,010,054 
501,386 

7,417,340 

15,839,075 

Between 1 and Non interest 
5 years bearing 

KShs '000 KShs '000 
7,365,179 

1,014,220 
-

49,815 
3,239,030 

4,253,250 7,414,994 

27,691 

27,691 

4,253,250 7,387,303 

Total 

KShs '000 
7,365,179 
1,075,330 

32,488,123 
16,164,847 

4 
49,815 

26,883,651 

84,026,949 

9,248,160 
27,691 

54,789,002 
2,164,248 

66,229,101 

17,797,848 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

(c) Market risk ( continued) 

(ii) Interest rate risk - continued 

Effective Between3 
31 December 2017 interest Within 3 and 12 Between 1 and 

rate months months 5 years 
% KSbs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Cash and balances with Central Bank - -
Other Assets 1,121,430 
FVOCI Securities 10.77% 17,777,098 10,285,288 7,236,578 
Due from foreign branches 1.50% 12,586,332 
Due from other banks 6.04% 1,500,740 
Derivative instruments -
Loans and advances to customers 

7.79% 
(net) 27,815,686 4,804,35~. 5,005,903 

Total financial assets 60,801,286 15,089,643 12,242,481 

Financial liabilities and equity 
Deposits from banking institutions 4.58% 8,355,276 2,160,400 
Derivative instruments 
Customer deposits 8.45% 61,301,434 3,067,476 -
Other liabilities 2,453,829 644,903 

Total financial liabilities 72,110 539 5 872,779 -
Interest rate sensitivity gap (11,309,253) 9,216,864 12,242,481 

Non interest 
bearing Total 

KShs '000 KShs '000 
8,206,639 8,206,639 

1,121,430 
35,298,964 

- 12,586,332 
1,500,740 

91,543 91,543 

37,625,944 

8,298,182 96,431,592 

- 10,515,676 
71,283 71,283 

64,368,910 
3,098,732 

71,283 78,054,601 

8,226,899 18,376,991 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

(c) Market risk ( continued) 

(iii) Currency rate risk 

~-·- ·~ 

The Bank operates wholly within Kenya and its assets and liabilities are carried in the local currency. The various foreign currencies to 
which the Bank is exposed at 31 December 2017 are summarised below: 

31 December 2018 
USD GBP EURO JPY Others Total 

Financial assets KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Balance sheet items 
Cash and balances with banks abroad 16,161,466 377,649 763,709 669,809 140,187 18,112,820 

Loans and advances 9,953,088 1,401,517 252,454 11,607,059 

Other foreign assets 1,807,129 - 6,345 13 120 1,813,607 

Off balance sheet items 
Undelivered spot purchases 
Forward purchases 4,155,493 583,909 256,126 50,323 5 045,851 

Total financial foreign assets 32,077,176 377,649 2,755,480 1,178,402 190,630 36,579,337 

Financial liabilities 
Balance sheet items 
Deposits 23,393,997 223,978 1,573,861 921,105 58,398 26,171,339 

Balances due to banks abroad - - - 13,595 13,595 
Other foreign liabilities 1,788,632 - 10,238 - 673 1,799,543 

Foreign loans and advances 26,374 - - 26,374 
Inter-Company/Group balances 5,094,111 - - - 5,094,111 

Off balance sheet items 
Undelivered spot sales 
Forward sales 1,802,470 158,766 1,176,184 257,946 101,446 3,496,812 

Total foreign liabilities 32,105,584 382,744 2,760,283 1,179,051 174,112 36,601,774 

Net open position ( 28,408} ( 5,095} ( 4,803) ( 649} 16,518 ( 22,437} 

Long/(short)position ( 28,408) ( 5,095) ( 4,803) ( 649) 16,518 ( 22,437) 
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(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continned) 

(c) Market risk ( continued) 

(iii) Currency rate risk - co11ti1111ed 

31 December 2017 
USD GBP EURO JPY 

Financial assets KSbs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 
Balance sheet items 
Cash and balances with banks abroad 12,385,472 425,513 340,691 617,176 

Loans and advances 16,625,004 16,519 4,306,732 399,927 

Other foreign assets 1,578,827 2,390 ( 2,914) 416 
Off balance sheet items 
Undelivered spot purchases 667,813 3,054 
Forward _eurchases 12,029,993 - 36,905 713,020 

Total financial foreign assets _ 43,287,109 447,476 4,681,414 1,730,539 

Financial liabilities 
Balance sheet items 
Deposits 30,206,882 475,238 2,380,996 4,994 
Balances due to banks abroad 
Other foreign liabilities 1,611,193 - 37 23 
Foreign loans and advances 24,740 -
Inter-Company/Group Balances 8,780,024 
Off Balance sheet items 
Undelivered spot sales 640,439 148,210 
Forward sales 2,498,664 2,160,646 1,736,315 
Total foreign liabilities 43,761,942 475,238 4,689,889 1,741,332 

Net open position ( 474,833) (27,762) ( 8,475) ( 10,793) 

Long/(short)position ( 474,833) (27,762) ( 8,475) ( 10,793) 

Others Total 
KShs '000 KShs '000 

76,566 13,845,418 
65,594 21,413,776 

49 1,578,768 

- 670,867 
59,272 12,839 190 

201,481 50,348,019 

70,155 33,138,265 

1,611,253 
24,740 

- 8,780,024 

- 788,649 
91,325 6,486,950 

161,480 50,829,881 
40,001 ( 481,862) 
40,001 ( 481,862) 
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Sensitivity analysis foreign currency exchange risk 

The bank's assets and liabilities held in foreign currency are bound to be affected by 
the fluctuations in the foreign exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis on the foreign 
currency position is measured by the trading DVO 1 that measures the change in value 
of the position as a result of a 1 percentage point shift ( appreciation) in exchange rates. 
The trading DVOl for the USD and the EUR positions that constitute the significant 
portion of the statement of financial position is as follows: 

2018 2017 
KShs'OOO KShs'OOO 

USD 2,841 47,483 
EUR 480 848 
GBP 510 2,776 
JPY 65 1,079 

The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year: 

Closing Average 

2018 2017 2018 2017 

KShs'OOO KShs'OOO KShs'OOO KShs'OOO 

GBP 130.1 138.91 130.83 133.59 
JPY 91.96 91.57 91.05 92.14 
EUR 116.68 123.34 116.54 117.19 
USD 101.9 103.25 101.4 103.3 

( d) Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people and systems or from external events. It includes reputation and 
franchise risk associated with the Bank's business practices or market conduct; and the 
risk of failing to comply with applicable laws and regulations. 

The Bank seeks to ensure that key operational risks are managed in a timely and 
effective manner through a framework of policies, procedures and tools to identify, 
assess, monitor, control and report such risks. 

Compliance with operational risk policies and procedures is the responsibility of all 
business managers. The Business Risk and Controls Committee (BRCC) has the overall 
responsibility for ensuring that an appropriate and robust risk management framework 
is in place to monitor and manage operational risk. 

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to 
address operational risk is assigned to senior management within each business unit. 
This is supported by the Manager's Control Assessment process that assess the 
effectiveness of controls over the risks identified. 

Page 74 



CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

(e) Capital management 

The Central Bank of Kenya sets and monitors capital requirements for all banks. 

The objective of the Central Bank of Kenya is to ensure that a bank maintains a level of 
capital which: 

is adequate to protect its depositors and creditors; 
is commensurate with the risks associated with its activities and profile 
promotes public confidence in the bank. 

In implementing current capital requirements, the Central Bank of Kenya requires 
banks to maintain a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk-weighted assets. 

Capital adequacy and use of regulatory capital are monitored regularly by management 
employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee, as 
implemented by the Central Bank of Kenya for supervisory purposes. 

The Central Bank of Kenya requires a bank to maintain at all times: 

a core capital of not less than 8% of total risk weighted assets, plus risk weighted 
off -balance sheet items 
a core capital of not less than 8% of its total deposit liabilities 
a total capital of not less than 12% of its total risk weighted assets, plus risk 
weighted off-balance sheet items 
A capital conservation buffer of 2.5% over and above the above minimum ratios. 

This brings the minimum core capital to risk weighted assets and total capital to risk 
weighted assets to 10.5% and 14.5% respectively. 

Central Bank of Kenya required the bank to maintain a minimum core capital of Kshs 1 
billion as at 31 December 2018. The bank is already compliant with this requirement. 

Capital is segregated into core capital (Tier 1) and supplementary capital (Tier 2). 

Core capital includes assigned capital, irredeemable preference shares, share premium 
and retained earnings after deductions for goodwill and intangible assets. 

Supplementary capital on the other hand includes 25% of revaluation reserves of 
property and equipment, subordinated debt not exceeding 50% of core capital and any 
other approved reserves. 

Risk weighted assets are arrived at using a framework of four weights applied to both 
on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet items to reflect the relative risk of each asset 
and counterparty. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

5. 

(e) Capital management (continued) 

The Bank's regulatory capital position at 31 December was as follows: 

2018 2017 
KShs '000 KShs '000 

Core capital (Tier 1) 
Assigned capital 4,582,975 4,582,975 
Retained earnings 14,382,768 14,747,302 
Less deferred tax asset ( 287,927) ( 293 741) 

18,677,816 19,036,536 
Supplementary capital (Tier 2) 
Statutory reserve 138 904 726,020 
Total capital 

]8.8]6,720 ]9.762.556 

Risk weighted assets 
On-balance sheet 31,763,098 42,212,213 
Off-balance sheet 16,512,633 15,074,485 
Market Risk qualifying Assets 
Total Market Risk Weighted Assets 2,806,453 4,387,99Q 
Operational Risk Equivalent Assets 17,004,770 15,673,959 

Total risk weighted assets 68,086,953 77,348,647 

Deposits from customers 64.037.)62 74.884,586 

Capital ratios 2018 2017 

Core capital/total deposit liabilities (CBK minimum 
8%) 29.2% 25.4% 
Core capital /total risk weighted assets (CBK 
minimum 10.5%) 27.4% 24.6% 
Total capital /total risk weighted assets (CBK 
minimum 14.5%) 27.6% 25.5% 

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. The estimates and assumptions are based on the managements best 
knowledge of current events, actions, historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of 
making the judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Aetna! results may differ from these estimates. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued) 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation and critical judgments in 
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in 
the financial statements is set out below: 

(a) Impairment of financial assets 

Judgement is made on classification of financial assets assessment of the business 
model within which the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual 
terms of the financial assets are Solely for Payment of Principal and Interest (SPPT) 
on the principal amount outstanding. 

Judgement is made in establishing the criterion for determining whether credit risk 
on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
determining methodology for incorporating forward-looking information into 
measurement of Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) and selection and approvals of 
models used to measure ECL. 

Assets accounted for at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive 
income are evaluated for impairment on a basis described note 3(b ). 

The Bank recognises loss allowance at an amount equal to either l 2-month expected 
credit losses (ECLs) or lifetime ECLs. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from 
all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument, whereas 
12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are 
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 

For credit exposures where there have not been significant increases in credit risk 
since initial recognition, the Bank provides for 12-month ECLs. These are classified 
as Stage I assets. 

For credit exposures where there have been significant increases in credit risk since 
initial recognition on an individual or collective basis, a loss allowance is required 
for lifetime ECLs. These are classified as Stage 2 assets. 

For credit exposures that are credit impaired and in default, similar to stage 2 assets, 
a loss allowance is required for lifetime ECLs however the probability of default for 
these assets is presumed to be I 00% less any determined recovery and cure rate. 

Business model assessment and assumptions 

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations 
(which are dealt with separately above), that the directors have made in the process 
of applying the Bank's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in financial statements: 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

5. USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued) 

(a) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Business model assessment 

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI 
and the business model test (refer to note 3(b)). The Bank determines the business 
model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to 
achieve a particular business objective. This assessment includes judgement 
reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is 
evaluated and their performance is measured, the risks that affect the performance of 
the assets and how these are managed and how the managers of the assets are 
compensated. The Bank monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income that are derecognised prior to their 
maturity to understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are 
consistent with the objective of the business for which the asset was held. Monitoring 
is part of the Bank's continuous assessment of whether the business model for which 
the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not 
appropriate whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective 
change to the classification of those assets. 

Significant increase of credit risk (SICR) 

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or 
lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what 
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. Instead management, in assessing 
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Bank takes into 
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking 
information. Refer to note 3(b) for more details. 

Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics 

When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped 
on the basis of shared risk characteristics. Refer to note 3(b) for details of the 
characterics considered in this judgement. The Group monitors the appropriateness 
of the credit risk characteristics on an ongoing basis to assess whether they continue 
to be similar. This is required in order to ensure that should credit risk characteristics 
change there is appropriate re-segmentation of the assets. This may result in new 
portfolios being created or assets moving to an existing portfolio that better reflects 
the similar credit risk characteristics of that group of assets. Re-segmentation of 
portfolios and movement between portfolios is more common when there is a 
significant increase in credit risk (or when that significant increase reverses) and so 
assets move from 12-month to lifetime 

ECLs, or vice versa, but it can also occur within portfolios that continue to be 
measured on the same basis of 12-month or lifetime ECLs but the amount of ECL 
changes because the credit risk of the portfolios differ. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

5. USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued) 

(a) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Models and assumptions used 

The Bank uses various models and assumptions in estimating ECL. Judgement is 
applied in identifying the most appropriate model for each type of asset, as well as 
for determining the assumptions used in these models, including assumptions that 
relate to key drivers of credit risk. Refer to note 3 (b) for more details on ECL 
measurement. 

(b) Useful life of assets 

Property and equipment 

Critical estimates are made by management in determining the useful life of property 
and equipment. 

(c) Fair value of financial instruments 

Where the fair values of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the statement of 
financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a 
variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The input 
to these models is taken from observable market data where possible, but where this is 
not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. 

( d) Taxation 

Judgment is required in determining the prov1s10n for income taxes due to the 
complexity of legislation. There are many transactions and calculations for which 
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The 
Bank recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is 
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is 
made. 

The Bank recognises the net future tax benefit that relates to deferred income tax assets 
to the extent that it is probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in 
the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets 
requires the Bank to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable 
income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from 
operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent 
that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability 
of the Bank to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting date could be 
impacted. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

5. USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued) 

(e) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Bank's accounting policies 

Critical accounting judgements made in applying the Branch's accounting policies 
include financial asset and liability classification. The Branch's accounting policies 
provide scope for assets and liabilities to be designated on inception into different 
accounting categories in certain circumstances. 

In classifying financial assets as held-to-maturity, the Branch has determined that it has 
both positive intention and ability to hold the assets until their maturity date. 

Page 80 



CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Accounting classifications and fair values 

31 December 2018 

Financial assets 
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 
Other assets 
FVOCI Securities 
Derivative financial instruments 
Placements with other banks 
Balances due from foreign branches 
Loans and advances to customers 

Financial liabilities 
Deposits from banks 
Deposits from customers 
Derivative financial instruments 
Other liabilities-items in transit 

Held for 
trading 

KShs'OOO 

49,815 

49,815 

27,691 

27,691 

FVOCI Amortised cost 
KShs'OOO KShs'OOO 

7,365,179 
1,075,330 

32,488,123 -

4 
16,164,847 
26,883,651 

32,488,123 51,489,011 

I""""""'==\ 

Others at amortised 
cost Fair value 

KShs'OOO KShs'OOO 

- 7,365,179 
1,075,330 

32,488,123 
49,815 

4 
16,164,847 

- 26,883,651 

- 84,026,949 

9,248,160 9,248,160 
54,789,002 54,789,002 

27,691 
2,164,248 2,164,248 

66,201,410 66,229,101 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued) 

Accounting classifications and fair values ( continued) 

31 December 2017 Held for Available for Sale 

Financial assets 
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 
Other assets 
Available for Sale Securities 
Derivative financial instruments 
Placements with other banks 
Balances due from foreign branches 
Loans and advances to customers 

Financial liabilities 
Deposits from banks 
Deposits from customers 
Derivative financial instruments 
Other liabilities 

trading 
KShs'OOO 

91,543 

91,543 

71,283 

71,283 

Securities 
KShs'OOO 

35,298,964 

35,298,964 

Loans and 
receivables 

KShs'OOO 

8,206,639 
1,121,430 

1,500,740 
12,586,332 
37,625,944 

61,041,085 

Others at amortised 
cost Fair value 

KShs'OOO KShs'OOO 

8,206,639 
1,121,430 

35,298,964 
91,543 

1,500,740 
12,586,332 
37,625,944 

- 96,431,592 

10,515,676 10,515,676 
64,368,910 64,368,910 

71,283 
3,098,732 3,098,732 

77,983,318 78,054,601 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued) 

(a) Accounting classifications and fair values (continued) 

The following sets out the branch's basis of establishing fair value of the financial 
instruments: 

Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value as set out in Note 15. 

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 

The fair value of cash and bank balances with the Central Bank of Kenya is their carrying 
amount. 

Deposits and advances to banks 

The fair value of floating rate placements and overnight deposits 1s their carrying 
amounts. 

Loans and advances to customers 

Loans and advances to customers are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair 
value of loans and advances represents the discounted amount of future cash flows 
expected to be received, including assumptions relating to prepayment rates. Expected 
cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value. A substantial 
proportion of loans and advances reprice within 12 months and hence the carrying amount 
is a good proxy of the fair value. 

FVOCI Instruments 

FVOCI securities with observable market prices are fair valued using that information. 
The fair value is determined by discounting the securities using prevailing market rates. 

Deposits from banks and customers 

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity is the amount repayable on 
demand. The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits without quoted market 
prices is based on discounting cash flows using the prevailing market. 

A substantial proportion of deposits are within 6 months and hence the carrying amount is 
a good proxy of the fair value. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

6. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued) 

(b) Valuation hierarchy 

The valuation hierarchy, and types of instruments classified into each level within that 
hierarchy, is set out below: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Fair value Unadjusted quoted Valuation models with Valuation models using 
determined prices in an active direct! y or indirect! y significant non-market 
using: market for identical market observable observable inputs 

assets and liabilities inputs 

The table below shows the classification of financial instruments held at fair value into 
the valuation hierarchy set out below as at 31 December 2018: 

31-Dec-18 
Assets 
FVOCI Securities 

Derivative financial instruments 

Total assets 

Liabilities 
Derivative financial instruments 

Total liabilities 

31-Dec-17 
Assets 
Available for Sale Securities 

Derivative financial instruments 

Total assets 

Liabilities 
Derivative financial instruments 

Total liabilities 

Level 1 
KShs'OOO 

Level 2 
KShs'OOO 

32,488,123 
49,815 

32,537,938 

27,691 

27,691 

35,298,964 
91,543 

35,390,507 

71,283 

71,283 

Level 3 
KShs'OOO 

Total 
KShs'OOO 

32,488,123 
49,815 

32,537,938 

27,691 

27,691 

35,298,964 
91,543 

35,390,507 

71283 

71,283 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

INTEREST INCOME 

2018 

KShs '000 

Loans and advances to customers 2,753,712 

Government securities 3,481,813 

Placements with other banks and institutions 157,365 

Other interest income 

6.392.890 

INTEREST EXPENSE 

Customer deposits 926,848 
Deposit from other banks and banking institutions 164,655 
Other interest expense 90 

].091.593 

NON INTEREST INCOME 

Income from foreign exchange dealing 1,940,570 
Fee and commission income 1,049,116 
Gain on disposal of financial instruments at FVOCI 880,043 
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 2 798 

3,812,521 

2017 

KShs '000 

2,422,030 

3,780,742 

248,389 

151 

6.451,312 

859,390 
170,500 

2,831 

1.032.721 

1,893,216 
1,176,955 
1,027,119 

714 

4.098,004 

Fees and commission income relate to fees earned by the bank on transactional activities. 

Income from forex dealing relates to the net gains on foreign exchange forward contracts and 
foreign currency positions. These are derivative instruments held at fair value through profit 
or loss. 

The gain on disposal of securities relates to financial instruments at FVOCI disposed off 
during the year. 

NON INTEREST EXPENSE 
2018 2017 

KShs '000 KShs '000 

Salaries and employee benefits 1,658,654 1,639,203 
Depreciation and amortisation 76,164 93,548 
Occupancy costs 96,001 101,707 
Deposit Protection Fund 99,489 105,865 
Other expenses 1,428,417 1,168,709 

3.358.725 3.]09.032 

Page 85 



CITIBANK N.A. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

11. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 

Profit before taxation is arrived at after 
charging/( crediting): 
Auditors' remuneration 

Depreciation and amortisation 

(Gain) on sale of property and equipment 

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

Current income tax at 37.5% 
Prior year under/over provision on current tax 

Deferred tax - Current year (Note 22) 

2018 
KShs '000 

6,383 

76,165 

( 2,798) 

2,506,492 

2,506,492 
( 25,238) 

2.48] .254 

2017 
KShs '000 

6,383 

93,548 

( 114) 

2,534,633 
I 64,323) 

2,470,310 
( 7 708) 

2,462,602 

The tax on the bank's profit differs from the theoretical amount using the basic tax rate as 
follows: 

2018 2017 

KShs '000 KShs '000 

Accounting profit before tax 5.643.026 6.373.0]7 

Computed tax using the applicable 
corporation tax rate 37.5% 2,116,135 2,389,882 
Net tax effect of non-deductible & deductible 
expenses and non-taxable income 365,119 137,043 
Prior year over provision on current tax ( 64,323) 

Income tax expense 2.481,254 2.462,602 

Tax (recoverable)/payable 

2018 2017 

KShs '000 KShs '000 

Balance at I January ( 159,519) ( 118,295) 

Charge for the year 2,506,492 2,470,312 

Paid during the year (2,625,339) (2,511,536) 

Balance at 31 December ( 278,366) ( 152.512) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

13. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA 

Cashon hand 
Available balances with Central Bank of Kenya 

Classified as cash and cash equivalents (Note 27(b)) 

Cash reserve ratio with Central Bank of Kenya 

2018 
KShs '000 

1,125,185 
3,347,506 

4,472,691 

2,892,488 

1,365,119 

2017 
KShs '000 

873,861 
3,974,084 

4 847 945 

3,358,694 

8,206,639 

The Cash Reserve Ratio (CRR) is non-interest earning and is based on the value of deposits 
as adjusted for Central Bank of Kenya requirements. Banks are required to maintain their 
CRR based on monthly average basis, free to deviate from the 5.25% on any given day but 
not to fall below 3%, provided that the overall average for the month will be at least 4.75%. 
At 31 December 2018, the Cash Reserve Ratio requirement was 5.25% of eligible deposits 
(2017 - 5.25%). 

14. FVOCI INVESTMENTS 

FVOCI instruments 
Government securities 
Treasury bills: 
- maturing after 90 days 
- maturing within 90 days 
Treasury bonds 
- maturing within 90 days 
- maturing after 90 days 

Corporate bonds 

15. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

2018 
KShs '000 

25,133,529 

7 354 594 

32,488,123 

32,488,123 

2017 
KShs '000 

26,294,341 

9,004,623 

35,298,964 

35,298.964 

Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value in response to changes in interest 
rates, financial instrument prices, commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, credit risk and 
indices. The types of derivatives used by the Bank are set out below. 

All derivatives are recognised and subsequently measured at fair value, with all revaluation 
gains recognised in the profit or loss. 

These tables analyse the notional principal amounts and the positive (assets) and negative 
(liabilities) fair values of the Bank's derivative financial instruments. Notional principal 
amounts are the amounts of principal underlying the contract at the reporting date. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

15. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

16. 

2018 

Notional 
principal 
amounts Assets 

KShs '000 KShs '000 
Forward 
foreign 
exchange 
contracts 7,767,602 49,815 

PLACEMENTS WITH OTHER BANKS 

Due within 90 days 

Liabilities 

KShs '000 

27,691 

2017 

Notional 
principal 
amounts Assets 

KShs '000 KShs '000 

15,935,198 

2018 

KShs '000 

4 

91,543 

Liabilities 

KShs '000 

71,283 

2017 

KShs '000 

J.500.740 

Banks are required by central bank to maintain certain cash ratios (CRR) and also facilitate 
liquidity in the market through interbank borrowing and lending. The weighted average 
effective interest rate on placements as at 31 December 2018 was 8.40% (2017-6.04%) 

17. BALANCES DUE FROM FOREIGN BRANCHES 

Due within 90 days 

2018 
KShs '000 

16,164.847 

2017 
KShs '000 

12,586,332 

These are balances due from foreign branches of Citibank N.A. which had weighted average 
effective interest rate at 31 December 2018 of 0.00% (2017 -1.5%) 

18. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 

(a) Loans and advances 

Overdrafts 
Loans 
Bills discounted and bills negotiated 

Less: Provisions for impairment losses (Note l 8(b )) 

2018 
KShs '000 

12,947,218 
13,250,703 
1 697 546 

27,895,467 
(1,011,816) 

26,883,65] 

2017 
KShs '000 

16,449,106 
20,279,212 

1,451,915 

38,180,233 
( 554,289) 

37,625,244 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued) 

(a) 

(b) 

Loans and advances ( continued) 

Lending by economic activities: 

Manufacturing 
Business services 
Agriculture and related 
Mining and quarrying 
Transport and communications 
Wholesale and retail trade 
Building and construction 
Finance and insurance 
Social community and personal services 
Others 

Provision for impairment losses 

2018 

At 1 January2018 
IFRS 9 Initial application adjustments 

Made during the year 
Recoveries during the year 

At 31 December 2018 

At 1 January 2017 

Made during the year 
(Recovered)/made during the year 

At 31 December 2017 

2018 
KShs '000 

15,789,444 
656,846 
377,261 

32,961 
3,029,449 
2,750,354 

928,800 
1,008,783 
3,321,569 

27,895.467 

Stage 1 
Stage 3 and2 

impairment impairment 
losses losses 

KShs '000 KShs '000 

549,411 4,878 

197,122 51,050 
354,742 194,759 

(340,146) 

761,129 250,687 

Specific General 
impairment impairment 

losses losses 
KShs '000 KShs '000 

437,031 7,509 
37,177 (2,631) 

75,203 

549,411 4,878 

2017 
KShs '000 

21,382,674 
661,993 

11,892 
907,715 

7,014,856 
2,892,657 

77 
1,583,864 
3,724,505 

38.180.233 

Total 
KShs '000 

554,289 

248,172 
549,501 

(340,146) 

1,011,816 

Total 
KShs '000 

444,540 

34,546 
75,203 

554,289 
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18 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (Continued) 

19. 

(c) Impairment loss provisions 

Made during the year (Note 18 (b) 

( d) Impaired loans and advances 

Impaired loans and advances 

Impairment loss provision 

Recoverable amount of impaired loans and advances 

2018 

KShs '000 

172,073 

819,447 
(761,129) 

2017 

KShs '000 

1,723,695 

(549411) 

1,174,284 

The estimated realisable value of securities held against this balance is KShs 13,500,000 
(2017 -KShs 2,079,500,000).The realisation of the securities is subject to legal process. 

OTHER ASSETS 
2018 2017 

KShs '000 KShs '000 

Items in transit 67,318 110,761 
Prepayments 479,550 755,921 
Other receivables 1,008,014 1,010,669 

1.554.882 1,877,351 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Furniture 
2018 Buildings & & Motor Work in 

improvements equipment vehicles Computers progress Total 
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Cost 
As at I January 2018 838,817 178,886 40,366 286,153 16,692 1,360,914 
Transfer from work in 
progress 5,851 721 6,994 2,249 (15,815) 

Transfer to expenses ( 877) ( 877) 

Additions 10,669 1,663 12,784 23,017 48,133 
Disposals/Write off ( 3,924) (15,923) ( 37,390) ( 57,237) 

As at 31 December 
2018 855,337 177,346 31,437 263,796 23,017 1,350,933 

Depreciation 
As at I January 2018 348,124 162,590 26,821 268,339 805,874 

Charge for the year 43,672 11,800 7,163 11,688 74,323 

Disposal/write-off ( 3,851) (15,923) (37,390) ( 57,164) 

As at 31 December 
2018 391,796 170,539 18,061 242 637 823 033 

Net book value 
As at 31 December 
2018 463,541 6,807 13,376 21,159 23,017 527,900 

2017 Furniture 
Buildings & & Motor Work in 

improvements equipment vehicles Computers progress Total 
KShs'OOO KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Cost 
As at 1 January 
2017 744,834 187,028 31,913 284,825 94,283 1,342,883 
Transfer from work 
in progress 90,387 3,896 (94,283) 
Additions 8,633 733 12,653 3,711 16,692 42,422 
Disposals/Write off ( 5,037) ( 8,875) ( 4,200) ( 6,279) ( 24,391) 
As at 31 December 
2017 838,817 178,886 40,366 286,153 16,692 1,360,914 

Depreciation 
As at I January 2017 307,489 155,634 24,737 249,290 737,150 
Charge for the year 45,673 14,946 5,759 25,328 91,706 
Disposal/write-off ( 5,038) ( 7,990) (3,675) ( 6,279) ( 22,982) 
As at 31 December 
2017 348,124 162,590 26,821 268,339 805,874 

Net book value 
As at 31 December 
2017 490,693 16,296 13,545 17,814 16,692 555,040 
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~O. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 

Included in property and equipment are assets with a gross value of K.Shs 464,998,483 (2017-
K.Shs 348,842,804) which are fully depreciated but s.till in use. Such assets would have a notional 
depreciation ofKShs 111,270,330 (2017-K.Shs 90,243,579). 

21. PREPAID OPERATING LEASE RENTALS 

Cost at 1 January 
Addition to land leasehold 

As at 31 December 

Amortisation at 1 January 
Amortisation for the year 

As at 31 December 

Net book value 

22. DEFERRED TAX 

2018 
KShs '000 

67,305 
3 734 

71,309 

(31,206) 
( 1,842) 

(33,048) 

37.99] 

2017 
KShs '000 

67,305 

(29,3640) 
( 1,842) 

(31,206) 

36.099 

The deferred tax asset at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 is attributable to temporary 
differences in the carrying amounts of certain items for accounting and taxation purposes 
respectively, as specified below: 

Atl Recognized At31 
January 1 JanIFRS 9 in income Recognized December 

2018 2018 Adjustment statement in equity 2018 
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 

Arising from: 
Property and equipment (95,164) 3,499 ( 91,665) 
Fair value reserve 16,770 21,760 102,355 140,885 
General provision for 
expenses ( 46,353) ( 4,974) ( 51,327) 
Equity compensation ( 34,899) 8,600 ( 26,299) 
Bad Debts provision (134,095) (93,064) (32,363) (259,522) 

(293,741) (71,304) (25,238) 102,355 (287,927) 
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22. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 

2017 Atl 
January 

2017 
KShs '000 

Arising from: 
Property and equipment ( 96,335) 
Fair value reserve ( 16,076) 
Portfolio impairment provision ( 2,886) 
General provision for expenses ( 46,681) 
Equity compensation ( 52,688) 
Bad Debts provision (104,213) 

(318,879) 

Recognized 
in income 
statement 
KShs '000 

1,171 

1,899 
328 

17,789 
(28,895) 

( 7,708) 

Recognized 
in equity 

KShs '000 

32,846 

32,846 

23. DEPOSITS FROM OTHER BANKS AND BANKING INSTITUTIONS 

Payable within 90 days 

2018 
KShs '000 

9,248,160 

At31 
December 

2017 
KShs '000 

( 95,164) 
16,770 

( 987) 
( 46,353) 
( 34,899) 
(133,108) 

(293,741) 

2017 
KShs '000 

10,515,676 

These are mainly deposits from local banks and banking institutions which had a weighted 
average interest rate of 3.4% as at 31 December 2018 (2017-4.58%) 

24. CUSTOMER DEPOSITS 

25. 

Deposits by economic sectors 
Resident - Foreign currency accounts 
Private enterprises 
Non-profit institutions and individuals 
Non-financial public enterprises 

2018 
KShs '000 

24,358,773 
19,370,323 

1,485,949 
9 573 957 

54,789,002 

2017 
KShs '000 

31,167,693 
19,369,047 

1,597,322 
12,234,848 

64,368.9] O 

These are mainly current account balances or term deposits held for customers which had a 
weighted average interest rate of 5.85% as at 31 December 2018 (2017 - 8.45%). 

OTHER LIABILITIES 
2018 2017 

KShs '000 KShs '000 
Items in transit 
Bills payable 501,386 644,903 
Sundry unclaimed items 1,483,558 1,212,984 
Accrued expenses and other payables 179 304 1,240,845 

2164,248 3,028,732 
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26. EQUITY 

(a) Assigned Capital 

The parent's capital assigned to Kenya branches was KShs 4,582,975,000 (2017 - KShs 
4,582,975,000), which meets the minimum core capital requirement of KShs 1 billion 
(201 7 - KShs 1 billion) in compliance with the Banking Act. 

(b) Fair value reserve 

This comprises the fair value movements in fair value for instruments carried at FVOCI 
excluding impairment losses and the transfers when the instruments are derecognised. The 
amount is presented net of the deferred tax effect. 

(c) Statutory credit risk reserve 

Where impairment losses required by legislation or regulations exceed those computed 
under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs ), the excess is recognised as a 
statutory reserve and accounted for as an appropriation of retained profits. These reserves 
are not distributable. 

( d) Equity compensation reserve 

This comprises the fair value of share based payment awards granted to employees. 
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27. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(a) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash flows from operating activities 

2018 2017 

KShs '000 KShs '000 

Profit before taxation 5,643,026 6,373,017 
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation 74,323 91,706 
Amortisation of prepaid operating lease 
rentals 1,842 1,842 
Equity compensation provision ( 22,935) 23,985 
(Profit) on sale of property and equipment ( 2,798) ( 714) 
Expensed fixed assets 877 

5,694,335 6,489,836 

Decrease/(increase )in operating assets 

Balances with Central Bank of Kenya 
- Cash Reserve Ratio (CRR) and blocked 
funds 466,206 ( 68,041) 
FV OCI Instruments 3,021,940 4,339,261 
Derivative instruments 41,728 56,871 
Loans and advances to customers 10,494,123 ( 9,111,056) 
Other assets 322,469 ( 155,066) 

14,408,317 ( 4,938,031) 
(Decrease)/increase in operating 
liabilities 
Deposits from Central Bank 

Customer deposits ( 9,579,908) 2,120,845 
Derivative instruments ( 43,592) ( 69,552) 
Other liabilities ( 934,484) (11,293,147) 

CAP Awards payout ( 71 422) 

(10,557,984) ( 9,313,276) 

Cash utilized for operating activities 9,544,668 ( 7,761,471) 

Taxation paid ( 2,625,339) ( 2,511,536) 

Net cash utilized for operating activities 6,212,322 (] 0,213,001) 
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27. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued) 

(b) Analyses of cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and available balances with 
Central Bank of Kenya (Note 13) 
Placements with other banks 
Balances due from foreign branches 
Deposits from CBK and other banks 
and banking institutions 
Investment in government securities 
with a maturity ofless than 90 days 
from date of acquisition 

28. OPERATING LEASES 

2018 

KShs '000 

4,472,691 
4 

16,164,847 

(9,248,160) 

11,389,382 

2017 

KSlts '000 

4,847,945 
1,500,740 
12,586,332 

(10,515,676) 

8,419.341 

Change in the 
year 

KSlts '000 

( 375,254) 
(1,500,736) 

3,578,515 

1,267,516 

2.970.041 

The Bank leases a number of premises under operating leases. Lease payments cover principal 
rentals for the use of the premises. Future minimum lease payments under these operating leases 
are as follows: 

Not later than one year 

More than one year and not later than five years 

2018 

KShs'OOO 

13,023 

2017 

KShs'OOO 

15,008 

llJlli, 

During the year ended 31 December 2018, KShs 18,187,782 was recognized as an expense in 
the profit orloss iu respect of operating leases (2017 - KShs 18,162,964). 

29. OFF BALANCE SHEET CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 

(a) Letter of credit, guarantees and acceptances 

In the ordinary course of business, the bank conducts business involving guarantees, 
acceptances and letters of credit. These facilities are offset by corresponding obligations 
of third parties. At year end, the contingencies were as follows: 

2018 2017 
KShs '000 KShs '000 

Letters of credit 1,353,068 2,281,103 

Guarantees 12,124,173 12,544,938 

Acceptances 1,695,091 1,435,681 

Unused Commitments 3,386,032 1,696,269 

18.558,364 17,957.991 
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30. OFF BALANCE SHEET CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (Continued) 

(a) Letter of credit, guarantees and acceptances (continued) 

Nature of contingent liabilities 

Letters of credit commit the bank to make payment to third parties, on production of 
documents, which are subsequently reimbursed by customers. 

Guarantees are generally written by a bank to support performance by a customer to third 
parties. The bank will only be required to meet these obligations in the event of the 
customer's default. 

An acceptance is an undertaking by a bank to pay a bill of exchange drawn on a 
customer. The bank expects most acceptances to be presented, and reimbursement by the 
customer is almost immediate. 

At the year end, commitments were as follows: 

Commitments 

Outstanding spot foreign exchange contracts 

Outstanding forward foreign exchange 
contracts 

2018 
KShs '000 

7.767.602 

2017 
KShs '000 

1,290,572 

]4.644,626 

Spot contracts involve the purchase and sale of foreign currencies for delivery and 
payment within two business days. 

Foreign exchange forward contracts are agreements to buy and sell a specified quantity 
of foreign currency, usually on a specified future date at an agreed rate. 

A currency option is an agreement between two counter-parties, giving the option buyer 
(option holder) the right, but not the obligation, either to buy or to sell a quantity of 
currency at a specified rate, on or before a specified date in the future. 

(b) Kenya Revenue Authority 

The Kenya Revenue Authority (KRA) issued an excise duty assessment against the bank 
for the period covering 2013 to 2016 demanding tax payable amounts ofKes 128,968,791 
comprising of principal tax of Kes 73,813,774 plus penalty and interest of Kes 
55,155,019. The bank responded to KRA and as at 31 December 2018 this had not been 
settled on. 

30. ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY 

As at 31 December 2018(2017-Nil), there were no assets pledged by the bank to secure 
liabilities and there were no secured bank liabilities. 
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CITIBANK N.A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED) 

31. RELATEDPARTYTRANSACTIONS 

(a) Transactions with other Citibank branches and subsidiaries 

In the normal course of business, transactions are entered into with other branches and 
subsidiaries of Citibank N.A, the parent company. During the year, the bank had 
recoveries expenses/amounting to KShs 559,845,340 (2017 - KShs 904,584,228) to other 
Citibank branches and subsidiaries. These transactions were carried out at arm's length. 

The balances due from Citibank foreign branches are as disclosed under Note 17. 

(b) Key Management personnel Transaction 

The Bank has entered into transactions with its employees: 

Staff loans to Key management 

2018 
KShs '000 

208.543 

2017 
KShs '000 

249.277 

Interest earned on loans to key management amounted to KShs 9,710,568 (2017 - KShs 
12,384,382). 

Interest rates charged on balances outstanding from employees are detennined by the 
Senior Human Resource Committee and are granted at a discounted market interest rate. 
The mortgages and secured loans granted are secured over property and other assets of the 
respective borrowers. 

No impairment losses have been recorded against balances outstanding during the period 
with key management personnel, and no specific allowance has been made for impairment 
losses on balances with key management personnel at the reporting date. 

(c) Key management compensation 

Compensation of the Bank's key management personnel includes salaries, bonuses, non
cash benefits and contributions for retirement benefits under a defined contribution plan. 
Some bank officers also participate in the Group's share option programme. 

Short-term employee benefits 
Other long-term benefits 
Share-based payment 

2018 
KShs '000 

213,273 
21,321 
11,381 

245.975 

2017 
KShs '000 

303,633 
21,270 

8 980 

333,883 

Page 98 



I 

r 

L 

32. 

CITIBANK N .A. 
(KENYA BRANCHES) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED) 

PARENT COMPANY 

The Bank is a branch of Citibank N.A, a national banking association formed under the laws of 
the United States of America. The ultimate holding Bank of the parent is Citigroup Inc. 

33. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

There were no significant events after the reporting date. 
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